

Cook Shire Tourism Strategy

Tourism Strategy Action Plan

Final July, 2012

A leading Australian consulting group recognised through the success of our clients

Economics, Planning & Development

Business Strategy & Finance

Community Research & Strategy

Design, Marketing & Advertising

Information & Knowledge Management



Document Control

Job ID: 15972

Job Name: Cook Shire Tourism Strategy

Project Director: Carey Ramm
Project Manager: James Dunbar

Company: Cook Shire Council

Job Contact: David Barker

Document Name: Cook Shire Tourism Strategy v4

Last Saved: 23/7/2012 12:28 PM

Version	Date	Reviewed PM	Approved PD
V1	31/01/2012	JD, TL	
Draft 2.0	15/05/2012	TL	CR
Draft Final	29/05/2012	TL	CR
Final	20/07/2012	TL	CR

Disclaimer:

Whilst all care and diligence have been exercised in the preparation of this report, AEC Group Limited does not warrant the accuracy of the information contained within and accepts no liability for any loss or damage that may be suffered as a result of reliance on this information, whether or not there has been any error, omission or negligence on the part of AEC Group Limited or their employees. Any forecasts or projections used in the analysis can be affected by a number of unforeseen variables, and as such no warranty is given that a particular set of results will in fact be achieved.



Executive Summary

Background

The Cook Shire Tourism Strategy Action Plan (Cook Shire TSAP) is the strategic outcome of a series of research and analysis undertaken throughout the development of the Cook Shire Tourism Strategy. This report builds on the key results of past reports, including:

- Phase I Consultation Report;
- Phase II Consultation Report; and
- Background Assessment Report.

The TSAP represents a key strategic document for the development of Cook Shire's tourism industry over the next 10 years. The report presents results and analysis from the following key project components:

- Key Tourism Markets;
- Strategy action plans; and
- Proposed methodology for capturing visitation statistics.

Strategic Context

The Cook Shire is home to nearly 4,000 residents and a land area 17% larger than Tasmania. Like Tasmania the Cook Shire includes some of Australia's leading wilderness areas and is an aspirational adventure destination for certain visitor markets. However the small population and financial base of the region along with its remoteness results in continual challenges for developing the region's tourism industry. The region has potential tourism assets far beyond what it can feasibly pursue, and as such a constant of this strategy has been a need to focus on a limited suite of best prospect directions.

The TSAP lays out a set of regional priorities for the next 10 years. It does not intend to supplant individual tourism operator and or organisation activities though it should be considered at these levels as a guide to shared directions. Rather it provides the roadmap for where the region should come together and pursue strategic priorities that will build the long-term value of tourism in the Cook Region. The region requires a more coordinated and strategic approach into the future if it is to begin to develop to its full potential.

Tourism in Cook Shire

Based on business numbers and employment by industry, tourism is already Cook Shire's second largest industry, after *Agriculture, Forestry and Fishing*. Tourists bring significant benefits to the region, creating expenditure in a range of businesses and contribute to sustaining services, infrastructure and events across the Shire that ultimately benefit all residents. Tourism is already an integral part of the Cook economy and community, with the potential to grow in importance and contribution over the next 10 years.

Priority Markets

The core priority market for the Cook Shire is the domestic 4WD / Adventure market. This is already the major visitor market for the region, and the market where Cape York has an already established aspirational reputation above competitor destinations in Queensland and Australia. The 4WD / Adventure scene also contributes much of the exposure and credibility of Cook as a destination, and so a focus on engaging with this market segment has flow-on benefits to other priority markets.

Other key current priority markets are Grey Nomads and Domestic Leisure markets. Both of these markets cross over with the core 4WD / Adventure market in interests and requirements in the region however generally have different preferences for the methods of accessing and experiencing the region.



Further market segments are relevant to Cook Shire, but do not form as worthwhile priorities for the region as a whole. This TSAP does not recommend significant efforts to develop the Cruise Ship market, with major practical and cost constraints to significantly enhancing this market for Cook Shire.

Capturing Tourism Visitation

As a part of the initial project brief, AEC*group* has developed a methodology for capturing visitation and expenditure statistics in Cook Shire. The analysis includes a brief literature review, which included consultation with Tourism Queensland (TQ) regarding their methods for estimating visitor numbers and expenditure in regions of Queensland. The methodology developed includes a survey approach and requires a number of industry partners to collect bi-annual visitation statistics to their business. The successful implementation of the proposed methodology will provide Cook Shire with a total estimate for tourism visitation and an average expenditure per day / night for various tourism related expenditure categories. Collecting these statistics over time will allow planning bodies and industry members to monitor the overall health of Cook Shire's tourism industry and make better informed decisions.

The proposed methodology for collecting tourism visitation in Cook Shire follows a similar approach to that of Tourism Queensland's (TQ) Destination Visitor Surveys, whereby a survey will be utilised. However, the methodology differs where the application of TQ's approach for collecting data for Cook Shire would be overly expensive and/or require major project planning and design. An overview of the methodology for estimating tourist visitation and expenditure to Cook Shire is considered in Table A.2.

Table E.1: Summary Tourism Visitation Statistics Methodology

Stage	Action / Task	Detail							
Stage 1		Data should ideally be characterised bi-annually to reflect							
1	Find supportive businesses / operators that can collect	differences between seasons							
	•								
	visitor data (i.e. raw numbers	The businesses / operators should ideally be distributed across the Shire to at least three different toward in a Cool toward Coop							
	of visitors)	Shire to at least three different townships (i.e. Cooktown, Coen,							
	Daries surres	Portland Roads or Laura)							
2	Design survey	Identify the proportion of tourists visiting the businesses /							
		operators consolidated in Stage 1							
_	Find an arranging businesses	Identify average daily spend on various items							
3	Find supportive businesses	Survey should ideally be administered on a bi-annual basis to							
	that are willing to administer	reflect differences between seasons							
	the survey	The survey sample size will depend largely on project budget							
		constraints – a sample range of 200 – 400 would initially be							
		sufficient							
		, , ,							
		,							
4	Compile data on an annual								
	basis								
		 The survey should ideally be distributed across the Shire to at three different townships (i.e. Cooktown, Coen, Portland Road Laura) Survey should include accommodation businesses so as to cap the business tourism market Data will include: Visitation statistics for several key businesses / operators in low and high seasons Proportion of tourists visiting the key businesses / operator the low and high seasons Expenditures per day / night in the low and high seasons Extrapolate visitor data at the key businesses / operators base 							
	5								
5	Data analysis								
		the proportion of tourists visiting these attractions (for low and							
		high seasons)							
		Take an average of the extrapolated visitation for all of the data Take an average of the extrapolated visitation for all of the data Take an average of the extrapolated visitation for all of the data Take an average of the extrapolated visitation for all of the data Take an average of the extrapolated visitation for all of the data Take an average of the extrapolated visitation for all of the data Take an average of the extrapolated visitation for all of the data Take an average of the extrapolated visitation for all of the data Take an average of the extrapolated visitation for all of the data Take an average of the extrapolated visitation for all of the data Take an average of the extrapolated visitation for all of the data Take an average of the extrapolated visitation for all of the data Take an average of the extrapolated visitation for all of the data Take an average of the extrapolated visitation for all of the data Take an average of the extrapolated visitation for all of the data Take an average of the extrapolated visitation for all of the data Take an average of the extrapolated visitation for all of the extrapol							
		points (for low and high seasons)							
		Add low and high total average visitations to determine total annual							
		visitation							
		Determine average daily expenditure by category based on data							
		obtained from the survey (can do so for low and high seasons and							
		aggregate)							

Source: AEC group

Tourism Strategy Action Plan

The TSAP is a product of significant research and past project components including detailed stakeholder consultation, background demographic and economic analysis, review of existing literature and a comprehensive audit of Cook Shire's tourism products.



The TSAP specifically considers a number of key opportunities, which have been identified through an in depth opportunity identification and assessment process. Individual action plans have been developed for the highest scoring opportunities across a number of criteria important to Cook Shire.

The action plans include a brief project description, required resources to undertake the project, a list of key stakeholders, analysis relating to economic benefits, potential challenges, a staged action plan (including timing guidance) and key performance indicators.

The Cook Shire TSAP includes action plans for the highest scoring opportunities from the opportunity assessment. The leading opportunities are:

- Long Term Marketing Strategy –Low Cost / Targeted Focus;
- · Grey Nomads and Camping Strategy (Cooktown focus);
- Expansion of Camping Related Tourism Facilities in the Iron Range Area;
- Emerging Market Development (China Focus);
- Cape York Touring Trails Development;
- Proactive Council Investment Attraction;
- · Coen and Peninsula Development Road Signage Strategy; and
- Ongoing Preparation of the Cooktown Visitor Survey.

Summary

The strategic initiatives outlined in this TSAP focus on clear, achievable directions of clear relevance to Cook Shire's markets which are appropriate to the region's resources to deliver the strategies.

Several strategic initiatives are more aspirational and less certain (e.g. Emerging Market Development), on the basis of pursuing limited higher risk and longer term directions which have the potential to bring major benefits to the region's tourism future. Ingredients within Cook Shire for success with emerging markets are apparent, but the pathways to success are not yet so clear.

The success of this TSAP will be determined primarily by the actions of the region's stakeholders over the next 10 years. By focusing on these initiatives as a region, Cook Shire has the potential to significantly improve outcomes for its tourism related businesses.



Table of Contents

DOC	UMENT CONTROL	1
EXE	CUTIVE SUMMARY	1
ТАВ	LE OF CONTENTS	v
1.	INTRODUCTION	6
1.1	Background	6
1.2	Purpose of Report	e
1.3	IMPORTANCE OF TOURISM TO COOK SHIRE	e
1.4	Planning Context	7
2.	COOK SHIRE TOURISM MARKETS	8
	2.1.1 COOK SHIRE VISITOR MARKET PRODUCT COMPATIBILITY SUMMARY	8
2.2	Cook Market Priorities	9
3.	TOURISM STRATEGY ACTION PLAN	11
3.1	Overview	11
3.2	QUEENSLAND TOURISM CONTEXT	11
3.3	OPPORTUNITY DEVELOPMENT METHODOLOGY	12
3.4	IMPLEMENTATION	12
3.5	ACTION PLAN	13
	3.5.1 LONG TERM MARKETING STRATEGY -LOW COST / TARGETED FOCUS	14
	3.5.2 GREY NOMADS AND CAMPING STRATEGY (COOKTOWN FOCUS)	17
	3.5.3 Expansion of Camping Related Tourism Facilities in the Iron Range Area	19
	3.5.4 EMERGING MARKET DEVELOPMENT	21
	3.5.5 CAPE YORK TOURING TRAILS DEVELOPMENT	23
	3.5.6 PROACTIVE COUNCIL INVESTMENT ATTRACTION	25
	3.5.7 COEN AND PENINSULA DEVELOPMENT ROAD SIGNAGE STRATEGY	27
	3.5.8 Ongoing Preparation of the Cooktown Visitor Survey	29
	3.5.9 CRUISE SHIP INDUSTRY	31
4.	CONCLUSION	32
4.1	Strategic Initiatives	32
4.2	Interaction with Other Regions	
4.3	SUMMARY	36
APP	ENDIX A: CAPTURING TOURISM VISITATION	37



1. Introduction

1.1 Background

In 2009, the Cooktown Chamber of Commerce & Tourism with the support of the Cook Shire Council, commenced the preparation of a marketing action plan, which was later completed in 2010. The marketing plan recommended that further research be undertaken to develop the long term sustainability of tourism in Cook Shire. The Cook Shire Council adopted this recommendation and has commissioned AEC*group* to develop the Cook Shire Tourism Strategy to provide strategic direction for tourism in Cook Shire over the next 10 years.

The Cook Shire Tourism Strategy has been developed to address the following key objectives:

- Investigate strategies for the successful management of the 'Grey Nomad' and cruise ship tourism markets;
- Develop an appropriate methodology for estimating and recording tourism visitation numbers and associated statistics in the region;
- Promote the sustainable use of resources in relation to tourism development;
- Outline a long term marketing action plan;
- Identify, analyses and prioritise tourism product and infrastructure development; and
- Conduct comprehensive consultation with community members, regional tourism industry operators and tourism planning representatives.

The Cook Shire includes some of Australia's leading wilderness areas with Cape York an aspirational adventure destination for a niche market, particularly 4WD enthusiasts. However the region is challenged by its remoteness, small population (about 4,000 residents) and subsequently small funding pool relative to its land area (which is 17% larger than Tasmania).

1.2 Purpose of Report

The Cook Shire Tourism Strategy Action Plan (Cook Shire TSAP) is the strategic outcome of a series of research and analysis undertaken throughout the development of the Cook Shire Tourism Strategy. This report builds upon a series of previous research and the key results of the past reports, including:

- Phase I Consultation Report;
- Phase II Consultation Report; and
- Background Assessment Report.

The TSAP will represent a key strategic document for the development of Cook Shire's tourism industry over the next 10 years. It is intended to guide all of the region's tourism stakeholders, but with a particular focus on actions led by Cook Shire Council and the Cooktown Chamber of Commerce & Tourism.

The report presents results and analysis from the following key project components:

Key Tourism Markets;

- Strategy action plans; and
- Proposed methodology for capturing visitation statistics.

1.3 Importance of Tourism to Cook Shire

Tourism is often talked of as an industry but technically it is not an industry but a segment of consumer demand. This is important, because the reason tourism is not definable as a true industry is that tourists create expenditure in a range of businesses within a region and contribute to sustaining services, infrastructure and events across a community.



Accommodation and Food Services is the industry that is most often considered a reasonable proxy for tourism activity as it is the most strongly driven by tourism demand. In Cook Shire 12.0% of businesses are in Accommodation and Food Services, compared to 5.2% in the Far North Queensland Statistical Division. 12.0% of the Shire's employment is in Accommodation and Food Services which is significantly higher than in the Far North Queensland Statistical Division or Queensland as a whole. The largest employing sectors in the Cook Shire are Public Administration and Safety with 12.3% of the Shire's employment and Agriculture, Forestry and Fishing with 18.2%. Given that tourism related employment extends into a range of industries other than Accommodation and Food Services it is safe to conclude that tourism is Cook Shire's second largest employing industry.

It is clear that tourism development needs to be a priority of Cook Shire in maintaining and developing its economy. The following Tourism Strategy Action Plan supports the need for the Cook region to focus more strategically on its tourism future.

1.4 Planning Context

The Cook Shire TSAP will inform Cook Shire Council planning but is not a Council document in itself. Background reports to this document, in particular the consultation reports, will be used by Cook Shire Council in updating several plans, including the Cook Shire Community Plan, Events Strategy, Cultural Plan and new Cook Shire Planning Scheme.



2. Cook Shire Tourism Markets

Cook Shire's six largest tourism visitor markets have been considered in terms of alignment with Cook's tourism products and value to the region. Table 2.1 describes each visitor type and the key experience types they seek in tourism destinations.

Table 2.1: Key Visitor Markets for Cook Shire

Visitor Market	Description (Cook Context)	Experiences
Grey Nomads	 55 – 80 years Usually retired or semi-retired Generally from southern Queensland or interstate (New South Wales, Victoria, etc.) Usually travel as a couple Largely self-contained Generally spend longer than average periods of time at various locations 	Local history Bird / animal watching Rural Australian and Indigenous culture Modest accommodation Local food / wine
Cruise Ship	 40 – 80 years Relatively higher spenders Ships visit Cooktown Generally spend a shorter than average periods of time at various locations (half a day) 	 Luxury experiences Shopping Rural Australian and Indigenous culture Local history Fine dining
4WD / Adventure	 25 – 55 years Working aged and relatively wealthy Chasing 'hero' experiences (such as reaching the tip of Cape York, running the old telegraph track) 	Hiking / wildernessFamous landmarksFishingCampingRural Australian culture
International Backpackers	 18 – 30 years Relatively low spenders overall, though expenditure on activities can be high Seek to immerse in local culture Seek value for money experiences Seek casual employment 	 Modest accommodation Camping Clubs / bars Hiking / wilderness Rural Australian and Indigenous culture
International Leisure	 30 – 80 years Generally from European countries (Including Germany, United Kingdom, etc.) Generally families Moderately to high spending Seeking organised and cultural experiences 	 Rural Australian and Indigenous culture Local food / wine Hiking / wilderness Moderate to Luxury accommodation Relaxing experiences
Domestic Leisure	 35 – 55 years Often families with children Mostly use own car for travel and transport Working aged and relatively wealthy Significant proportion from North Queensland Considerable proportion from South-East Queensland and interstate Sometimes fall under the 4WD / Adventure market 	Modest accommodationHiking / wildernessFishingHistoryCamping

Source: AEC group

Note: Business tourists are not identified separately as in the Cook context they are a market primarily defined by essential expenditures as opposed to a discretionary and contestable market of significance. Visiting Friends and Relatives are not identified separately as they are considered to align their tourism interests with the markets outlined above.

2.1.1 Cook Shire Visitor Market Product Compatibility Summary

AECgroup has prepared a detailed audit of tourism products in Cook Shire and their prima facie compatibility with the interests of the Shire's key visitor markets (Cook Shire Tourism Strategy: Background Assessment Report). In general, Cook Shire records high compatibility for its suite of tourism products with most of its key markets. Perhaps surprisingly, the International Leisure visitor market records the highest compatibility across all product categories, followed by Domestic Leisure and 4WD / Adventure. However whilst product appeal is high, the time and financial costs of accessing many of the region's assets is a significant barrier to many markets. The Cruise Ship visitor market records the lowest compatibility relative to Cook Shire's tourism products and was the only key visitor market to fall below the 3.50 benchmark.



Cook Shire has the basis for a relatively broad appeal across its key visitor markets. However focussing the region's resources in targeting all of these markets is unlikely to be successful, due both to the lack of resources and the risk of sending confusing messages to the market.

2.2 Cook Market Priorities

Table 2.2 outlines the market priorities for Cook Shire that has informed the development of this strategy. Note that it is not the intention of this prioritisation to 'reject' any markets, but rather to focus on the markets that stand to deliver the greatest net return for the region.

Table 2.2: Visitor Market Priorities for Cook Shire

Market	Basis
Core	Markets which are the highest priority for the region, and form the core
	audience at which marketing and communications are targeted
4WD / Adventure	High compatibility with product availability and assets
	Relatively wealthy
	Perhaps the only segment where Cook is already clearly established with a
	national reputation is as an aspirational destination for serious
	4WD/fishing/camping/outdoor adventure
	Relatively low infrastructure and further investment requirements
	Strong market growth in Cook over past decade
	High dispersal into regions
	Highest potential for low season development
	Messages to this market provides credibility to the region as a destination to
	other visitor market types (e.g. Grey Nomads, Domestic Leisure and
	International Leisure)
Peripheral	Important markets for the region, but of lower value than core markets, and/or
	responsive to similar messages from the region
Grey Nomads	Growing market
	Reasonable product compatibility
	Long lengths of stay Page 201 bits and into a significant and a significant an
	Reasonable dispersal into regions Polyticals described the structure and first here investment against a series.
Demostis Laisurs (Lass)	Relatively low infrastructure and further investment requirements
Domestic Leisure (Local Convenience)	North Queensland residents for which Cook can be an escape over a long weekend or short heliday.
Convenience)	weekend or short holidayShort escapes and furthering of local interests in different settings (e.g.
	fishing, camping, bike riding)
	Often relatively self-sufficient, though will access fixed accommodation,
	organised tours and tourism products
	Includes VFR and business markets
Domestic Leisure	Primarily interstate visitors that are motivated with the wilderness tropical
(Experience Seeking	experience as a contrast to their everyday lives
Interstate)	High compatibility with product availability and assets
2.1.0.0.0.0.0	Broad market
	Many similar interests to 4WD / Adventure market, but more likely to access
	through organised tours and tourism products
	Often interested in Indigenous experiences
	Includes VFR and business markets
Developing/	Markets of low current value to the region, but which show prospects for longer
Investigating	term nurturing
International Leisure	Reasonable to high product compatibility
	Strong interest in Indigenous products and experiences
	Cairns provides a relatively nearby gateway
	Significant challenges to a small region developing this market
Non-core / incidental	Markets that are significant to the region, however have minimal growth
	prospects or minimal likelihood of the region influencing
Cruise ship	Constrained market without major infrastructure development
	Short stays, need efficient, fast products to deliver whilst in town
	Poor regional dispersal
International backpackers	Relatively high product compatibility
	Cooktown is not in the core east coast route (requires extension to the major
	backpacker routes)
	Critical mass of supporting products, such as backpacker accommodation,
	clubs/bars, temporary employment agents is a constraint

Source: AEC group



Conceptually, there are five stages to winning a visitor to the Cook region:

- 1. Position the existence of Cook in the visitors conscience;
- 2. Build the desire / aspiration in the visitor to experience Cook Shire;
- 3. Motivate the visitor to believe that the aspiration can be converted to an actual visit / experience;
- 4. Provide information to help a future visitor plan their visit; and
- 5. Assist the visitor with their experience once in the region to maximise spend and enjoyment.

The Cook region, as Cape York, already has a strong presence in the domestic market's conscience, though not generally as a realistic destination as a tourist. For the core 4WD / Adventure market and for the Domestic Leisure markets the focus of this strategy is on stages 3 and 4. For the Grey Nomad market the focus is on Stage 5.

Stage 1 (Position the existence of Cook in the visitors conscience) is extremely difficult for a region the size of Cook to achieve from first principles. Thankfully for Cook Shire, a strong presence in documentaries, publications and forums over many years has provided a high level of domestic exposure.



3. Tourism Strategy Action Plan

3.1 Overview

The Tourism Strategy Action Plan (TSAP) is a product of significant research and past project components including stakeholder consultations, background demographic and economic analysis, review of existing literature and a comprehensive audit of Cook Shire's tourism products. The TSAP specifically considers a number of key opportunities, which have been identified through an in depth opportunity identification and assessment process. Individual action plans have been developed for the highest scoring opportunities from the opportunity assessment phase. The action plans include a brief project description, required resources to undertake the project, a list of key stakeholders, analysis relating to economic benefits, potential challenges, a staged action plan (including timing) and key performance indicators.

In addition to these opportunities, strategic advice has been prepared regarding the Grey Nomads market, Cook Shire's long term marketing strategy and the cruise ship market. The advice has been based on results from consultations, a review of existing literature and incorporates strategies from the opportunity assessment phase.

3.2 Queensland Tourism Context

Tourism has developed over the past two decades to become one of Queensland's most important sectors for jobs and export earnings. Tourism Queensland is the Queensland Government's peak destination management organisation, responsible for promoting the State for interstate and international visitors.

Tourism Queensland's current brand platform is 'Queensland, Where Australia Shines'. The platform is designed to move promotion towards consumer's emotional response rather than the State's physical attributes. Four key themes (Queensland Lifestyle; Islands and Beaches; Natural Encounters; and Adventures) and four major tourism regions (Gold Coast, Sunshine Coast, Tropical North Queensland and The Whitsundays) form the promotable foundation for the State.

Cook Shire bounds the Tropical North Queensland tourism region. Tropical North Queensland is currently marketed as 'Adventurous by Nature', with the aim to position Tropical North Queensland as Australia's nature-based adventure destination offering the best Australia has to offer in the realm of tropical experiences and nature based adventures.

At the time of writing Tropical North Queensland has suffered several very poor tourism outcomes in recent years as a result of the global financial crisis and a high Australian dollar. Tourism Tropical North Queensland (TTNQ) is the Regional Tourism Organisation. Whilst its' geographic scope extends from Mission Beach north to Cape York Peninsula and the Torres Strait Islands and west to the Gulf Savannah, its primary role is state as "to promote/market the destination to increase the awareness and number of visitors travelling to the Cairns & Great Barrier Reef region".

TTNQ describes Cape York as "The Last Frontier: 4WD Adventure Safaris or self drive, National Parks, Rainforest, Heathforests, Camping, Accommodation, Fishing, Waterfalls, Wild Rivers, Wildlife, Aboriginal and Island Culture, History". This description is reasonable, but highlights the contrast with the dominant Cairns region tourism industry.



Tropical North Queensland Current Brand

After 18 months of extensive research and industry consultation, Tourism Queensland and Tourism Tropical North Queensland have launched the new brand. Tropical North Queensland, Adventurous by nature, introduces a new vision for Tropical North Queensland as a tourism destination and focuses on the things that North Queensland is known and loved for. It captures the essence of Tropical North Queensland and repositions Tropical North Queensland as Australia's nature-based adventure destination offering the best Australia has to offer in the realm of tropical experiences and nature based adventures.

Tropical North Queensland invites people in and allows them to explore their adventurous side through nature. True to its personality and engaging, energetic, cheeky, warm and welcoming essence, Tropical North Queensland is perceived by our visitors as 'friendly' and 'free-spirited' in character.

The tourism experience in Cook Shire is towards the periphery of what Tourism Queensland and Tourism Tropical North Queensland is focussed on developing and promoting. This strategy promotes a more self-reliant focus with Cook Shire engaging with its core domestic 4WD / Adventure/ Leisure markets through the growing ability to directly connect with target markets. There is relatively little shared interest in the markets appropriate to Cook Shire and to the Cairns region.

3.3 Opportunity Development Methodology

The opportunity development phase included identifying all relevant tourism opportunities for Cook Shire, designing an assessment framework to reflect the region's priorities and constraints and systematically scoring each opportunity.

A total of 23 assessment criteria were developed in consultation with the Cook Shire Council to assess the identified opportunities. The criteria were combined under five major assessment categories, these being *Project Financial*, *Economic*, *Social*, *Environmental*, and *Government and Planning*. Priority opportunities included in the TSAP are those that received consistently high scores (relatively to all other opportunities) across multiple assessment categories.

3.4 Implementation

The TSAP is a strategic level document for the development of Cook Shire's tourism industry over the next 10 years. 10 years is a significant time-frame to plan for, particularly in the traditionally volatile tourism sector. It necessitates that stakeholders remain flexible to implementation over the period as circumstances inevitably change. However it is important to remain committed to longer term strategic goals to avoid the region working itself into a poorer tourism position as can sometimes occur with a pure focus on week-to-week and year-to-year needs.

The TSAP is intended to serve as a guide to all of the region's tourism stakeholders. However two key stakeholders are given the strongest focus on progressing actions in the TSAP.

Cook Shire Council is the closest level of government to the community, is formally the best organisation to act as an intermediary between the community / local tourism industry and other layers of government, has the widest reach across the Cook Shire and will almost certainly be the most enduring of the organisations relevant to the Cook Shire TSAP. For reasons including the above, Cook Shire Council is nominated as the key stakeholder in progressing, monitoring and coordinating other stakeholder's contributions.

The Cooktown Chamber of Commerce & Tourism is the peak body representing local businesses and tourism interest. It also acts as the Shire's Local Tourism Organisation. The Cooktown Chamber of Commerce & Tourism has been a strong supporter of various tourism development initiatives including the development of this TSAP. In terms of implementation the Cooktown Chamber of Commerce & Tourism has an important role in



terms of specifying business needs and considerations and collecting information from across the Shire.

Other partners of importance are the other Cape York local governments and development groups such as Balkanu, Ang-Gnarra Aboriginal Corporation, Quinkan and Regional Cultural Centre Ltd and the Cape York Institute.

3.5 Action Plan

The Cook Shire TSAP includes action plans for consistently high scoring opportunities from the opportunity assessment. These opportunities are:

- Long Term Marketing Strategy –Low Cost / Targeted Focus;
- Grey Nomads and Camping Strategy (Cooktown focus);
- Expansion of Camping Related Tourism Facilities in the Iron Range Area;
- · Emerging Market Development;
- · Cape York Touring Trails Development;
- · Proactive Council Investment Attraction;
- Coen and Peninsula Development Road Signage Strategy; and
- Ongoing Preparation of the Cooktown Visitor Survey.

The action plans include detailed descriptions and step-by-step implementation plans for each of the key opportunities. AEC*group*'s project team has provided input regarding opportunities included in the action plans. As a result, some opportunities have been excluded or re termed as a part of a 'reality checking' process and a broader consideration of Cook Shire's resources and role limitations.



3.5.1 Long Term Marketing Strategy -Low Cost / Targeted Focus

Project Description	Resources Required	Stakeholders and Partners
The Long Term Marketing Strategy encompasses a number of key marketing related initiatives that received high scores during the opportunity assessment. The initiatives are centred on low financial cost and targeted marketing to the region's core domestic markets. Cooperative marketing with TQ and TTNQ is limited to working to include a limited presence of iconic Cape York images and experiences in broader Tropical North Queensland and Queensland campaigns.	Traditional advertising is largely prohibitive in cost at effective levels for a region the size of Cook Shire. Modern media is increasingly offering the means for direct and effective communication with markets. Cook's specific target markets and proactive and personable tourism community are also a strong fit for direct marketing methods. Some central marketing collateral is required to be maintained. It is suggested that primary materials be web-based, with a focus on information and content rather than promotion per se (promotion should focus on the guerrilla marketing approaches). An excellent Cook Tourism web platform has already be developed and provides the cheapest platform to serve as a central area to update and produce materials for other formats (e.g. one-off print runs). Minimal financial outlay is associated with these initiatives however time requirements are substantial, for which there is an opportunity cost incurred.	 Cooktown Chamber of Commerce & Tourism (key stakeholder); Cook Shire Council; Local enthusiasts of target interest groups (e.g. fisherman, 4WD explorers); Tour companies; Relevant target market clubs and organisations; Relevant event committees; and Private tourism operators.

Benefits from Successfully Implemented Project

Benefits from the various initiatives outlined in this action plan include:

- · Increased regional recognition;
- Potential increase in tourist visitation and expenditure;
- Synergistic marketing effect through social media;Potentially additional tours and stronger relationships
- with tour companies;Improved and more cost efficient business signage
- Improved and more cost efficient business signage system (depending on the findings from the review);
- Potentially additional visitation from the use of packages and discounting; and
- Possible improved low season performance (less seasonal tourist industry).

Identified Challenges

There are several challenges facing the successful implementation of the various initiatives outlined in this action plan. In terms of direct and low cost marketing techniques, social media is possibly the most difficult to use effectively, yet the most rewarding if done well. Cook Shire is relatively well placed in terms that active presences in specific interest areas (e.g. 4x4 online forums) can directly translate into new visitors that make a significant impact to the Shire's relatively small tourism industry.

Finally, negotiating with local businesses and facilitating the development of packaging may be a challenge, as operators may not wish to participate. It is important to be persistent and offer help and support in facilitating the development of any new packages.

Action Plan	Timeline									
	Yr	Yr	Yr	Yr	Yr	Yr	Yr	Yr	Yr	Yr
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
1. Develop and execute a guerrilla marketing¹ program: Develop and implement a number of direct and low cost marketing measures that focus on; forming informal relationships with target markets, online and social media, promoting personnel interactions and communicating with large-scale tour operators. Cook Shire is already an aspirational destination for certain key markets, for example most half-serious 4WD owners would have a 'trip up the Cape' in their minds. The guerrilla marketing campaign should target these groups with direct methods to provide the information and motivation to convert more of these aspirants to visitors to Cook.	X									
1A. Form direct personal relationships with target markets: Identify relevant clubs, associations.	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X

¹ Guerrilla marketing focuses on attracting attention with minimal financial outlay. Whilst not expensive, particularly with online technologies, successful guerrilla marketing requires time, energy, and imagination.

14



events, print media and television media that would have a potential interest in Cook Shire (including 4WD, caravanning, camping and fishing). Establish relevant Cook personalities that can act as informal communicators for the region in limited forums. Personally contact these avenues, develop Cook Shire presences in relevant online forums and form relationships. Consider inviting relevant organisations to visit, write about, film, photograph or host events in the Cook Shire. Where possible, provide tourist related information regarding relevant tourism products in the Shire.										
1B. Communicate with target markets via online forums: Locate, join and participate on online forums relating to various target markets (focusing on Grey Nomads, camping, fishing and 4WD). It is important to keep the relationship relatively informal and not to be seen as a salesman. The best approach is to be completely transparent in always identifying as a representative of Cook Shire, provide clear and practical information about the Shire and its relevant tourism attractions that may appeal to the various markets, and try to present as a credible (rather than strongly one-eyed) advocate of the region.	x	x	x	x	x	x	X	x	x	X
1C. Utilise Social Media: Utilise key social media (Facebook, Twitter, Youtube, blogs) for marketing purposes. Participate actively and regularly on relevant social media mediums, provide information, showcase photos and videos, advertise events, hold competitions and promote individual businesses. Use media to support interactions with target markets. It is essential to actively encourage people to become followers and share posts so as to maximize the word of mouth effect. Be mindful that social media users are typically of younger age – it may be worth trying to target posts and updates to appeal most to this market. Incorporate humour and user participation.	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X
2. Continue development of supporting information products: Continue to develop in-region supporting information materials such as the Cooktown and Cape York Peninsula Guide, the Cooktown and Cape York Website and associated social media platforms. Promote and develop the Nature's Powerhouse Visitor Information Centre as a one-stop-shop for information and intelligence for 'heading up the Cape'.										
3. Facilitate local famil opportunities: Develop, in co-operation with local businesses, a variety of famil itineraries for potential visits by tour operators, travel agents and important media. Consider specific famil events relevant to key markets—for example a 'first up the Cape' event each year for 4x4 clubs and enthusiasts.	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X
4. Improve intra-regional communication mechanisms: Investigate and trial various intra-regional tourism industry communication mechanisms including through online media such as email circulars, operator's forums and collaborate workbooks. Cooktown Chamber of Commerce & Tourism should organise and host business networking functions for local tourism operators and external tourism operators with interests in the region.	X	X	X	X	X	x	X	X	X	x
5. Promotion of shoulder and off season tourism: Use of targeted and low cost marketing (as per Stage 1), events and incentives (for example by targeting groups that would be specifically interested in low season activities e.g. fishing). Focus on the convenience domestic market and communicate specific opportunities to visit (e.g. wind is down and the reef fish are biting) and solutions to local travel needs. Encourage and facilitate local business initiatives to develop off season packages and discounting.	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X





K	ey Performance Indicators	Prospects for Success
•	Number of organisations contacted;	Most initiatives in this action plan have a relatively high
•	Number of online forums joined and number of	likelihood of success provided sufficient energy is
	posts;	applied. Significant advances in some areas (website,
•	Direct feedback from recipients of the guerrilla	local information materials) have already been achieved
	marketing program;	following the Cooktown LTO Marketing Action Plan
•	Number of 'followers' of social media marketing;	(2010). Off season tourism development is difficult
•	Number of packages put together by local tour	however even relatively small increases can significantly
	operators; and	assist tourism operators with cash-flow.
•	Tourism visitation throughout the off-season.	



3.5.2 Grev Nomads and Camping Strategy (Cooktown focus)

Grey Nomaus and Camping	g Strategy (Co	oktown rocus)				
Project Description	Resources Requ	ired	Stakeholders and Partners			
This action plan sets out strategies for the development of the region's Grey Nomad² / camping tourism market. After considerable stakeholder consultation and industry research, a free camping policy is recommended for Cooktown and the surrounding area. The development of a short term stay comfort stop in Cooktown for Grey Nomads and campers should be considered as a part of this policy and is set out in the action plan below. Cook Shire Council should also provide ongoing support to existing commercial caravan parks who may plan to expand or improve their facilities.	The Cook Shire Cobe required to pro amount of internal undertake relevant site analysis for the free short stay Potential sites are Council owned land that there will be a associated with us Cook Shire Councithe campsite will property.	vide a significant resources to the feasibility and elevelopment of comfort stop. It is to be do which means an opportunity costing this land for larger particularly as	Cook Shire Council (key stakeholder); Cooktown Chamber of Commerce & Tourism; and Commercial caravan parks operating in the region.			
Benefits from Successfully Imple	mented Project	Identified Challe	enges			
 Improved reputation as a Grey No location among the national carava Potentially significant increased vis Nomad / camping market; Flow on economy benefits for Coosector (more tourism expenditure, 	an community; sitation from Grey ktown's tourism	Free camping is a controversial issue in Cooktown. Some community members strongly oppose free camping, and as a result the adoption of a free camping policy has challenges. Commercial caravan park operators are most likely to oppose due to fears of loss of business. It is important to define the policy very				

lead to increased visitation for existing commercial caravan parks; May encourage existing parks to invest and improve their facilities to be more competitive; and

has been experienced in Home Hill and other towns

Increased visitation, limited supply / length of stay

and very basic facilities at free camping site may

Word of mouth marketing benefits.

adopting the policy);

clearly and spend a considerable amount of time explaining the benefits that can be achieved for existing commercial caravan park operators and the tourism sector as a whole.

The costs of developing and maintaining the comfort stop are likely to be significant for the Cook Shire Council. It is important to only provide the bare essentials when developing the comfort stop and make efforts to utilise the travelling Grey Nomad community as potential volunteers for maintaining the park.

Action Plan	Timeline									
	Yr	Yr	Yr	Yr	Yr	Yr	Yr	Yr	Yr	Yr
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
1. Progressively audit and update camping areas across Cook Shire: It is recommended that Cook Shire Council regularly review camping policy for Cooktown and the surrounding area with the consideration of free camping locations and managing impacts of campers. An ongoing database of known popular camping areas should be built and regular audits used to build the database. Options for Council or other relevant authority to update or further manage impacts at these camping areas needs to be considered annually.	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X
2. Undertake feasibility analysis to develop a Council operated short stay free comfort stop in Cooktown: Undertake detailed feasibility analysis for a free short stay comfort stop in Cooktown, including the consideration of multiple sites (including south of ANZAC park, corner Hogg and Walker Streets and Archer Point). The feasibility analysis should include factors such as accessibility, economic benefit, amenity for campers, potential social implications (proximity to households), environmental impact and local planning. A review of shires with successful free camping policies should be undertaken to benchmark practical outcomes.	X									
3. Proceed with the development of a short stay free comfort stop at the best determined site: Based on the results from the feasibility analysis, finalise		X								

² Note the term 'Grey Nomad' is used loosely here to describe campers who stay relatively long periods, tend to two caravans and campervans and are usually retired or semi-retired.

17



suitable location/s for a free short stay comfort stop and proceed with its development. Provide only the bare minimum facilities and limit the supply of individual free camping sites – this will help existing commercial operators remain competitive and provide the town with a caravan / camping 'friendly' reputation. Consider utilising Grey Nomads as a volunteer / cheap labour source for campsite maintenance and length of stay monitoring to save on operational costs.										
4. Undertake a guerrilla marketing program: Undertake a marketing campaign as set out in the 'Long Term Marketing Strategy', with specific focus on the Grey Nomads / camping tourism market. Join and participate on caravanning / camping related internet based forums. Contact relevant clubs and organisations, form relationships, promote the region and provide information. Contact caravanning / camping related media publications and invite them to visit and report on the region. The caravanning / camping networks are famously efficient and positive news backed up by genuine actions should rapidly find traction.	x	X	X	x	X	x	X	X	X	X
5. Provide support to existing commercial operators: Host workshops and information sessions providing information regarding the free camping policy and potential benefits achievable for individual businesses (increased visitation as a whole from the Grey Nomads / camping market to the region). Develop mechanisms for free campers to be directed to commercial park operators such as an active notice board and promotional leaflets at the comfort stop. Engage with caravan park operators to see if Council can help address barriers to developing larger sites for big RVs and generally investing in their businesses to differentiate their products from ultra-basic amenities provided at the free camping site. This may potentially include such issues as waste management, town signage, planning streamlining and water use concessions.	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x
Key Performance Indicators			Pros	spect	s for S	Succe	SS			
 Successful adoption of the camping audit and development policy for Cooktown and the surrounding region; Outcomes from the free short stay comfort stop feasibility analysis; Successfully choosing a site; Development approval for the free short stay comfort stop; Development completion of the free short stay comfort stop; Response and feedback from community and businesses; and Investment at existing commercially operated caravan parks. 	Providing that this action plan is not subject to severe political setback (significant opposition for progression by community and businesses), the various steps outlined are very achievable. Cook Shire Council needs to take necessary steps to convey the economic benefits for the entire community and find ways to minimise operational costs after the development of the free short stay comfort stop.								on eds efits	



3.5.3 Expansion of Camping Related Tourism Facilities in the Iron Range Area

Project Description	Resources Requ	hire Council will primarily to devote internal or delivering this project. • Cook Shire Council (key stakeholder); • Portland Roads Community									
This project involves building a case				marily	•				cil (key	1	
for upgrades to facilities in the popular Iron Range area. Lobbying				oioct	1.			,,	ommu	nity	
of the State Government and/or the	Council staff will be				•			oup (l		TIILY	
Department of National Parks,	devote a considera							r); and			
Recreation, Sport and Racing	time in achieving of				١.				rnmer	nt (Loc	al
(DNPRSR) will be required for	this action plan, pa		_		•				vant n		
facility development in National Park	preparing the case								ational		
areas (e.g. Chili Beach). Other	campsite and ongo								and F		
approaches may involve	the State Governm						,				
development of campsites on	Identifying local up										
private, Council or traditional lands.	options should be										
The campsite at Chili Beach is far	community group	– a pro	ocess	that is							
too small for the current visitation	already underway.										
to the region. The boundaries of	Council should aim			ancial							
the campsite have been informally	outlay to a minimu										
extended to the point where they	undertaking this p	roject	(i.e.								
are encroaching on the beachfront	investing in develo	ping f	acilitie	s).							
and surrounding rainforest and are											
causing considerable environmental											
harm. Many tourists are also being turned away due to a lack of											
available campsites. Basic camping											
amenities (such as toilets and											
showers) are also considered to be											
inadequate and in need of											
upgrading.											
Benefits from Successfully Impler	mented Project	Ide	ntifie	d Chal	lenge	es					
The successful provision of additional	campsites would	Nego	otiatin	g with	the S	tate G	overni	ment o	could b	e a lo	ng
enable a sustainable increase in touris		term	proce	ess. T	ne crit	ical su	iccess	factor	s and	DNPR	SR's
Portland Roads / Chili Beach area, with				provid							
currently the limiting factor in the tour				may be							
Appropriate additions and upgrades w				e and I							
existing issues such as environmental				and info							
the negative word of mouth effect occ				ial for	tne su	iccessi	rui imp	oiemei	ntation	or thi	S
existing campsite arrangement. Cateril campers in the region will also add to		proje		ent of	altorn	ativo c	amnir	a cita	c on C	ouncil	
the region.	experiultures in			traditio							
the region.				oweve							
				invol							••••
				Furthe							e
		likely	to re	main a	t pop	ular ar	eas w	ithin I	Nationa	al Park	S
		such	as Ch	nili Bea	ch.						
Action Plan						Time					
		Yr	Yr	Yr	Yr	Yr	Yr	Yr 7	Yr	Yr	Yr
1. Form community led working g	roun: Thoro is	1	2	3	4	5	6	/	8	9	10
interest from community members in F											
regarding the formation of a communi											
group to discuss relevant community is											
solutions. Cook Shire Council should e		X									
formation of this group and provide or	ngoing support, as										
it will be a useful driver during the lob	bying process for										
upgrades to the Chili Beach campsite.											
2. Consult with community working											
an ongoing working relationship with t											
working group (e.g. regular meeting s		X									
the subject of upgrades in the Iron Ra including issues, remedies, project role											
for negotiating with DNPRSR.	es and approaches										
3. Determine exact upgrade requi	rements										
Determine how many additional camp											
to sufficiently meet demand by consider											
visitation and number of campers bein		X									
due to full occupancy. Collate evidence								l	Ī	ĺ	

due to full occupancy. Collate evidence to provide to DNPRSR or other operators. Consult with the community working group regarding upgrade to basic amenities.



4. Initiate formal negotiations with DNPRSR: Contact DNPRSR (Council should lead, although the community group representatives may become involved and establish the need for negotiations regarding upgrades in the Iron Range area. Determine what internal processes need to be followed to apply for funding for upgrades. Determine what circumstances are required for DNPRSR to formally budget for appropriate upgrades. Form an ongoing working relationship and aim to leverage DNPRSR's internal resources as much as possible.	X									
5. Develop case for upgrades: Work with DNPRSR to determine what critical factors are required for approving upgrades (as far as they are concerned). Work with the community working group to build a case, which addresses these factors. Focus on the current environmental damage which is occurring due to overuse of the site. Also consider the loss to the region's tourism sector as a result of not being able to accommodate tourists. Present alternative delivery models as an adjunct to DNPRSR delivery of additional campsites, rather than a primary solution.	X									
6. Present case for upgrades: Develop and present the formal case for upgrades in the Iron Range area to/within DNPRSR. Involve the local State Member and consider whether representations to the relevant minister are also required on the basis of special / unusual circumstances.		X								
7. Continued lobbying and negotiation: Continue lobbying activities as required. Circumstances, investment criteria and personalities change over time so a regular update of the lobbying case is required. Continue to research and develop evidence through the community group for the upgrades and present findings to DNPRSR or other relevant stakeholders.		X	X	X	x	x	X	x	X	X
8. Maintain community working group: Maintain the community working group as a voice to promote Portland Roads and the surrounding region. Actively work with this group regarding other issues.	x	X	X	X	x	x	x	x	X	x
Key Performance Indicators			Pros	spect	s for S	Succe	SS			
 Successful formation of the Portland Roads community led working group; Determination of specific upgrade requirements to the upgrades in the Iron Range area; Processes and critical factors that DNPRSR require when considering the plan to upgrade the campsite; Formation of case materials to be presented to DNPRSR; Response and feedback from DNPRSR regarding the case materials; Representations to local member / relevant minister; Commitment to providing upgrades from DNPRSR; and Ongoing community working group activity. 	diffice chall relate requestis als potes Pers	cult an enging ionshi ests a so imp ntially istence	d mak g. It is p with nd into ortant draws	tes the sesses of DNPF ernal per to be nout to be en to be ento	e relati ntial to RSR ar proces persionegoti che ke	n DNPP ive pro o deve nd pro sses fo stent a ation / y to su	elop a activel r fund and pr lobby	s of su strong y assis ing ap epared ing pr	ccess worki t their proval for a ocess.	. It



3.5.4 Emerging Market Development

Project Description	Resources Requi	t cost can be kept to a in terms of actual financial wever, Cook Shire Council (key stakeholder); • Cook Shire Council (key stakeholder); • Tourism Queensland;									
This initiative focuses on building ties and developing associated	-								іі (кеу		
products for several key emerging									and;		
tourism markets in Australia. The	staff will be require				•						
size and diversity of nearby	research and nego				•	Natio	nal Ch	inese	focuse	d tou	r
emerging markets in Asia is	stakeholders. Lite					opera			_		
astounding with recent growth in	research regarding				•				nese fo	cused	d
the inbound Chinese market attracting the attention of tourism	and desired experi relevant emerging						operat		ernmer	ti and	4
operators across Australia. Whilst	will also be require		t IIIai r	ieis			ral Gov			it, aiit	J
Cook Shire lacks the resources to	Involvement with		d TA a	S		i caci	ui Go	v Ci i ii i i	Citci		
directly research and develop these	these organization										
markets, it needs to position itself to	grasp and underst										
grasp developing market	emerging markets										
opportunities that align with its unique product and offerings as	pursued, with the some level of iconi										
they emerge.	images and experi										
they emerge.	promotions and me			ICII							
	Indigenous produc			ıh							
	potential interest t										
	and many emergin										
	Indigenous groups										
	with a tourism inte the Cape should w										
	these markets.										
Benefits from Successfully Imple		s. ect Identified Challenges									
The successful development of this ini											
Cook Shire with one or more new mar on mass), providing an increase in tou									ational siness		ral
the Shire. Additional economic benefit			arriers		Juding	, lariyi	laye a	iiu bu	3111033	Cuitui	ai
if Cook Shire Council is able to success				,	ofiling	releva	ant em	ergin	g mark	ets; a	ınd
government funding for the developm									itional		ıct
market tourism products in the region									ng mar		
depending on the size and nature of the	ne project/s.								d other		
									d and and er ther		
									region		
									est se		nis
									rkets I to dic		
Action Plan		Aust	i alia 3	positiv	JII VVIC		eline	THECC	to dic	tate	
		Yr	Yr	Yr	Yr	Yr	Yr	Yr	Yr	Yr	Yr
1. Identify key emerging markets	• Consider all	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
significant emerging tourism markets											
Far North Queensland. China is a key		v									
Australia looking forward, and given C	ook Shire's past	X									
affiliation with the Chinese (through m											
market is the first focus under this act 2. Seek out new literature and up											
relevant markets: Research and su											
understanding of Australia's key emer-											
markets is constantly improving. It is		X									
make sure that new literature is review		^									
considered in the context of Cook Shir TTNQ, TQ and TA improve their under											
markets.	standing of these										
3. Develop ongoing research part	nerships: Form										
new and maintain existing relationship											
tourism research bodies (including To											
and Tourism Australia) for research ar		V									
sharing. Consider forming a Cape York group with other communities and Inc		X									
to approach the peak tourism research											
to date with latest market profiling res											
key emerging tourism markets.											



4. Identify key industry representatives: Research										
and work with peak tourism bodies to identify emerging										
tourism market representatives (for Cook Shire's best suited markets), including international Tourism	X									
organisations and tour organizers / operators specialising in Australia.										
5. Develop engagement and direct marketing										
strategy: Determine the method for engaging with the										
identified key representatives / operators, including	X									
goals and desired outcomes.										
6. Contact and negotiate with identified										
representatives: Make contact with key industry										
representatives / operators with the aim to negotiate										
potential tours being conducted to Cook Shire. Provide										
marketing materials and offer aid and ongoing support		X								
for establishing tours in the region. Discuss the										
potential for product development supporting the										
establishment of tours.										
7. Identify product and skills development										
opportunities: Identify product development										
opportunities: Identity product development opportunities (relevant to Cook Shire's best suited										
markets) through existing research and negotiations										
with key industry representatives. Consider exploring	X	X								
the potential of skills development relevant for the	^	^								
provision of Chinese tour products, such as Chinese										
language skills and relationship development with										
accredited Chinese guides.										
8. Build funding case for appropriate										
opportunities: This step is appropriate for the										
development of non-commercially viable tourism										
products. This step requires carefully developing a		X	X							
funding submission and presenting to various levels of										
government with aim to secure funding support.										
9. Identify and approach potential private										
investors for product development: Relevant for										
those product opportunities that are commercially										
viable. For such products, build a business case										
(including plans, financials and marketing materials) and		X	X							
identify and negotiate with potential private investors.										
Where possible, utilise planning incentives and provide										
ongoing support.										
10. Aid the commercialisation and development										
of associated products: Provide ongoing support for										
the development of tourism related products relative to	X	X	X	X						
key emerging markets.										
Key Performance Indicators			Pros	spects	s for S	Succe	SS			
Identification and pursuit of one or more emerging	The	critica	l facto	rs for	the su	ıccessf	ul imp	lemer	tation	of
markets;						d Step				
 Number of private stakeholders engaged; 						ident			mpanie	es
Development of a list of relevant emerging market						rganisa				
tourism product opportunities;						ssions				
Value of private investment secured; and						st insu				
Value of public investment secured.						y be b				
						iteratu				
						keting				
						ctor in				′
						and re				me
						ok Shi				
L				- ,						



3.5.5

Strategy Action Flan - Final									A	EC gro	oup
Cape York Touring Trails D	evelopment										
Project Description	Resources Requi	ired			St	akeh	olders	s and	Partn	ers	
This initiative represents a combination of several marketing, research, industry collaborative and product development initiatives aimed at increasing awareness and subsequently visitation of the 4WD / Adventure market on Cape York. Specifically the initiative will include: Active engagement of the 4WD market through 'guerrilla style' marketing; Working with local stakeholders to develop a 4WD information base for Cape York travel; Developing a dedicated online information source for 4WD travellers; Identifying and pursuing potential products to establish Cooktown as 'base camp'; and Facilitating on-going research.	A facilitator (most Council) will be recthe various compoinitiative. Some coproject can be underlatively cost effectincluding collaboral stakeholders and comarketing (online engagement). The the online informative professional implementation, we require considerably resources. It would and apply for fund / Federal Government tourism organisation.	quired quired nents ompor lertake ctive ration we deretain direct e devetion so al desi hich is le finad be ving froent ar	to ma of this ients of en in a nanner ith inco aspect elopme ource v gn and s likely incial wise to om the	nage of the r, dustry tts of ent of will t to o seek	•	Stake Cook Other Gove Onlin organ Natur Touri Quee	holder Shire r Cape rnmer e base nisatio re's Po sm Transland	r); Devele York ets; ed 4W ns; owerho	North	nt Grou Local s and	
Benefits from Successfully Implen	nented Proiect	Ide	ntifie	d Cha	llena	es					
This initiative is targeted at Cook Shire tourism visitor markets, meaning it will increase tourist visitation to the region strength. The marketing component s positive regional recognition in general among 4WD enthusiasts. The initiative environmental implications and no maj issues for access, planning and land te required tracks are already in place. A potential routes have already been cormapped. Cook Shire's tourism reputation is cemwilderness adventures in its remote cothe 4WD Adventure market will continue headline reputation of the Cape York a tourism markets.	I's key existing I directly aim to from a proven hould generate I, particularly has minimal for anticipated enure exist as the number of hisidered and ented through untry. Building ue to build the	Deversity for the subject of the sub	eloping he devote key ponen ect of tes, as stry, Inness det. Handial coddition ect to	y approvelopmy and part of the inition in the inition of the initi	opriationent of operation of the content of the con	e partification that the control of the control of the control of this into the control of the c	online The poe difficient in the control and pe there on the control which on the cont	information information in the control of the contr	secure native v lenging t deve ependi n priva g for c gap in nent is it to so will alv er mor	websit g elopme ing on ite comme the not a ucceed ways b nitiativ	ent ercial n d.
Action Plan		Yr	Yr	Yr	Yr	Time Yr	eline Yr	Yr	Yr	Yr	Yr
		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
1. Guerrilla marketing program: A Term Marketing Action Plan – Actively	engage with 4WD										

ACTION FIAN						elline				
	Yr	Yr	Yr	Yr	Yr	Yr	Yr	Yr	Yr	Yr
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
1. Guerrilla marketing program: As per the Long Term Marketing Action Plan – Actively engage with 4WD enthusiasts by direct contributions to networks and discussion contribution via websites, blogs, online forums, social networking and industry publications. Make contact with national clubs and associations, 4WD magazines and publications, and 4WD event coordinators and invite them to visit, report and host events in the region.	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X
2. Build an information network through consultation and ongoing research: Consult with local businesses, 4WD enthusiasts, regional tourism organisations and 4WD tourists to develop a network of information including routes, camping sites, fishing spots, cultural and heritage assets, natural assets, Indigenous products, live weather and live road conditions.	X	X								
3. Establish Nature's Powerhouse as 'base camp' for the provision of information regarding 4WD travel up the Cape: Establish Nature's Powerhouse as 'base camp' as a part of the guerrilla marketing program and in existing print marketing materials. Establish information flows with Nature's Powerhouse so information can be provided for visiting 4WD tourists. Focus on live information, such as weather, road conditions and traffic on different tracks. Generally promote Nature's Powerhouse as 'base camp' for 4WD	X	X								



Language and the colling and the contraction from AMD						1				
tourism, as it will provide greater incentive for 4WD										
tourists to start their trip in Cooktown, which will										
potentially result in additional expenditure in the town										
and Shire (as Cooktown is the most effective township										
for capturing tourism expenditure).										
4. Ongoing market research for complimentary										
product development: Identify potential product										
development opportunities through further research,										
industry and visitor consultation. Consider potential										
products and services that could be provided in	V	V								
Cooktown to further cement the town as the 4WD base	X	X								
camp for Cape York. Simply consider the commercial										
viability of providing the products and services in										
Cooktown and identify those with merit for further										
analysis and consideration.										
5. Develop business cases for promising										
complimentary products: Build business cases /										
plans for the provision of promising products and										
services that can be provided by the private sector.										
Business cases should include basic due diligence and		X	X	X						
qualitative evidence that supports the product's					1	1				1
					1	1				1
commercial viability. Actively seek and negotiate with					1	1				1
potential private investors for the development of these					1	1				1
products / services.						1				ĺ
6. Collate information for the development of an	 				1	1				
					1	1		1		ĺ
interactive website: Collate and prepare relevant					1	1				1
information from Stages 2 & 4, for the development of					1	1				1
an interactive Cape York touring website, with relevant				1	1	1				1
					1	1		1		ĺ
overlays, including: 'Hardcore' 4WD trails, fishing trails,				1	1	1				1
hunting trails, Indigenous trails and nature trails.					1	1		1		ĺ
Information regarding camping possibilities, directions					1	1				1
to tourism assets, downloadable maps and general										
		X	X							
tourism information regarding towns should also be										
provided. This concept is similar to the Great Tropical										
Drive concept, however, will concentrate solely on Cape										
York Peninsula. As much preparatory work as possible										
should be done during this stage (such as conceptual										
designs and information collation) so as to help										
minimise costs in Stages 7 and 8. The website can be a					l	1		1		ĺ
					l	1		1		ĺ
part of Cook Shire's existing tourism website.						 		 	 	<u> </u>
7. Develop partnerships for funding of the				1	1	1				1
interactive website: Actively engage various levels of					l	1		1		ĺ
THE COLUMN TO THE PROPERTY OF				ı	İ	1		Ì	Ì	ĺ
						I				
government (Local Governments on Cape York,										
government (Local Governments on Cape York, Queensland Government, Federal Government) and										
government (Local Governments on Cape York, Queensland Government, Federal Government) and	v	>	v							
government (Local Governments on Cape York, Queensland Government, Federal Government) and regional tourism bodies (Tourism Queensland, Tourism	X	X	X							
government (Local Governments on Cape York, Queensland Government, Federal Government) and regional tourism bodies (Tourism Queensland, Tourism Australia) to identify funding opportunities and formally	X	X	x							
government (Local Governments on Cape York, Queensland Government, Federal Government) and regional tourism bodies (Tourism Queensland, Tourism Australia) to identify funding opportunities and formally apply. When applying for funding, provide conceptual	X	X	X							
government (Local Governments on Cape York, Queensland Government, Federal Government) and regional tourism bodies (Tourism Queensland, Tourism Australia) to identify funding opportunities and formally apply. When applying for funding, provide conceptual plans and all work done to date to demonstrate the	X	X	X							
government (Local Governments on Cape York, Queensland Government, Federal Government) and regional tourism bodies (Tourism Queensland, Tourism Australia) to identify funding opportunities and formally apply. When applying for funding, provide conceptual plans and all work done to date to demonstrate the	X	X	x							
government (Local Governments on Cape York, Queensland Government, Federal Government) and regional tourism bodies (Tourism Queensland, Tourism Australia) to identify funding opportunities and formally apply. When applying for funding, provide conceptual plans and all work done to date to demonstrate the projects maturity and high likelihood of successful	X	X	X							
government (Local Governments on Cape York, Queensland Government, Federal Government) and regional tourism bodies (Tourism Queensland, Tourism Australia) to identify funding opportunities and formally apply. When applying for funding, provide conceptual plans and all work done to date to demonstrate the projects maturity and high likelihood of successful completion.	X	X	X							
government (Local Governments on Cape York, Queensland Government, Federal Government) and regional tourism bodies (Tourism Queensland, Tourism Australia) to identify funding opportunities and formally apply. When applying for funding, provide conceptual plans and all work done to date to demonstrate the projects maturity and high likelihood of successful completion. 8. Facilitate the development of the interactive	X	X	X							
government (Local Governments on Cape York, Queensland Government, Federal Government) and regional tourism bodies (Tourism Queensland, Tourism Australia) to identify funding opportunities and formally apply. When applying for funding, provide conceptual plans and all work done to date to demonstrate the projects maturity and high likelihood of successful completion. 8. Facilitate the development of the interactive website: Working with established partners to	X	X	X							
government (Local Governments on Cape York, Queensland Government, Federal Government) and regional tourism bodies (Tourism Queensland, Tourism Australia) to identify funding opportunities and formally apply. When applying for funding, provide conceptual plans and all work done to date to demonstrate the projects maturity and high likelihood of successful completion. 8. Facilitate the development of the interactive website: Working with established partners to	X	X	X							
government (Local Governments on Cape York, Queensland Government, Federal Government) and regional tourism bodies (Tourism Queensland, Tourism Australia) to identify funding opportunities and formally apply. When applying for funding, provide conceptual plans and all work done to date to demonstrate the projects maturity and high likelihood of successful completion. 8. Facilitate the development of the interactive website: Working with established partners to facilitate the design and implementation of the website.	X	X								
government (Local Governments on Cape York, Queensland Government, Federal Government) and regional tourism bodies (Tourism Queensland, Tourism Australia) to identify funding opportunities and formally apply. When applying for funding, provide conceptual plans and all work done to date to demonstrate the projects maturity and high likelihood of successful completion. 8. Facilitate the development of the interactive website: Working with established partners to facilitate the design and implementation of the website. Incorporate the information obtained in Stage 6. After	x	X	x	X						
government (Local Governments on Cape York, Queensland Government, Federal Government) and regional tourism bodies (Tourism Queensland, Tourism Australia) to identify funding opportunities and formally apply. When applying for funding, provide conceptual plans and all work done to date to demonstrate the projects maturity and high likelihood of successful completion. 8. Facilitate the development of the interactive website: Working with established partners to facilitate the design and implementation of the website. Incorporate the information obtained in Stage 6. After the website is developed ensure a commitment to	x	X		x						
government (Local Governments on Cape York, Queensland Government, Federal Government) and regional tourism bodies (Tourism Queensland, Tourism Australia) to identify funding opportunities and formally apply. When applying for funding, provide conceptual plans and all work done to date to demonstrate the projects maturity and high likelihood of successful completion. 8. Facilitate the development of the interactive website: Working with established partners to facilitate the design and implementation of the website. Incorporate the information obtained in Stage 6. After the website is developed ensure a commitment to ongoing update and management. Also investigate	X	X		X						
government (Local Governments on Cape York, Queensland Government, Federal Government) and regional tourism bodies (Tourism Queensland, Tourism Australia) to identify funding opportunities and formally apply. When applying for funding, provide conceptual plans and all work done to date to demonstrate the projects maturity and high likelihood of successful completion. 8. Facilitate the development of the interactive website: Working with established partners to facilitate the design and implementation of the website. Incorporate the information obtained in Stage 6. After the website is developed ensure a commitment to ongoing update and management. Also investigate	x	X		X						
government (Local Governments on Cape York, Queensland Government, Federal Government) and regional tourism bodies (Tourism Queensland, Tourism Australia) to identify funding opportunities and formally apply. When applying for funding, provide conceptual plans and all work done to date to demonstrate the projects maturity and high likelihood of successful completion. 8. Facilitate the development of the interactive website: Working with established partners to facilitate the design and implementation of the website. Incorporate the information obtained in Stage 6. After the website is developed ensure a commitment to ongoing update and management. Also investigate possibility to recover expenditure through online	x	X		x						
government (Local Governments on Cape York, Queensland Government, Federal Government) and regional tourism bodies (Tourism Queensland, Tourism Australia) to identify funding opportunities and formally apply. When applying for funding, provide conceptual plans and all work done to date to demonstrate the projects maturity and high likelihood of successful completion. 8. Facilitate the development of the interactive website: Working with established partners to facilitate the design and implementation of the website. Incorporate the information obtained in Stage 6. After the website is developed ensure a commitment to ongoing update and management. Also investigate possibility to recover expenditure through online advertising.			X							
government (Local Governments on Cape York, Queensland Government, Federal Government) and regional tourism bodies (Tourism Queensland, Tourism Australia) to identify funding opportunities and formally apply. When applying for funding, provide conceptual plans and all work done to date to demonstrate the projects maturity and high likelihood of successful completion. 8. Facilitate the development of the interactive website: Working with established partners to facilitate the design and implementation of the website. Incorporate the information obtained in Stage 6. After the website is developed ensure a commitment to ongoing update and management. Also investigate possibility to recover expenditure through online advertising. Key Performance Indicators	Pros	spects	X s for S	Succe						
government (Local Governments on Cape York, Queensland Government, Federal Government) and regional tourism bodies (Tourism Queensland, Tourism Australia) to identify funding opportunities and formally apply. When applying for funding, provide conceptual plans and all work done to date to demonstrate the projects maturity and high likelihood of successful completion. 8. Facilitate the development of the interactive website: Working with established partners to facilitate the design and implementation of the website. Incorporate the information obtained in Stage 6. After the website is developed ensure a commitment to ongoing update and management. Also investigate possibility to recover expenditure through online advertising.	Pros	spects	X s for S	Succe		ategie	s (gue	rrilla n	narket	ing
government (Local Governments on Cape York, Queensland Government, Federal Government) and regional tourism bodies (Tourism Queensland, Tourism Australia) to identify funding opportunities and formally apply. When applying for funding, provide conceptual plans and all work done to date to demonstrate the projects maturity and high likelihood of successful completion. 8. Facilitate the development of the interactive website: Working with established partners to facilitate the design and implementation of the website. Incorporate the information obtained in Stage 6. After the website is developed ensure a commitment to ongoing update and management. Also investigate possibility to recover expenditure through online advertising. Key Performance Indicators Number of people individually engaged with;	Pros Seve	specteral of	X s for S the lo	Succe wer co	st str					ing
government (Local Governments on Cape York, Queensland Government, Federal Government) and regional tourism bodies (Tourism Queensland, Tourism Australia) to identify funding opportunities and formally apply. When applying for funding, provide conceptual plans and all work done to date to demonstrate the projects maturity and high likelihood of successful completion. 8. Facilitate the development of the interactive website: Working with established partners to facilitate the design and implementation of the website. Incorporate the information obtained in Stage 6. After the website is developed ensure a commitment to ongoing update and management. Also investigate possibility to recover expenditure through online advertising. Key Performance Indicators Number of people individually engaged with; Feedback from recipients of targeting 'guerrilla'	Pros Seve cam	special of paign,	X s for s the lo inform	Succe wer co	ost stra gathe	ering a	nd cor	ารultat	ion)	_
government (Local Governments on Cape York, Queensland Government, Federal Government) and regional tourism bodies (Tourism Queensland, Tourism Australia) to identify funding opportunities and formally apply. When applying for funding, provide conceptual plans and all work done to date to demonstrate the projects maturity and high likelihood of successful completion. 8. Facilitate the development of the interactive website: Working with established partners to facilitate the design and implementation of the website. Incorporate the information obtained in Stage 6. After the website is developed ensure a commitment to ongoing update and management. Also investigate possibility to recover expenditure through online advertising. Key Performance Indicators Number of people individually engaged with; Feedback from recipients of targeting 'guerrilla' marketing;	Pros Seve cam incoi	spects eral of paign, porat	X s for S the lo informed into	Succe wer co mation o this i	ost stra gathe nitiati	ering a ve will	nd cor deper	nsultat nd on 1	ion) the ac	_
government (Local Governments on Cape York, Queensland Government, Federal Government) and regional tourism bodies (Tourism Queensland, Tourism Australia) to identify funding opportunities and formally apply. When applying for funding, provide conceptual plans and all work done to date to demonstrate the projects maturity and high likelihood of successful completion. 8. Facilitate the development of the interactive website: Working with established partners to facilitate the design and implementation of the website. Incorporate the information obtained in Stage 6. After the website is developed ensure a commitment to ongoing update and management. Also investigate possibility to recover expenditure through online advertising. Key Performance Indicators Number of people individually engaged with; Feedback from recipients of targeting 'guerrilla' marketing; Amount of cooperative funding secured from	Pros Seve cam incor parti	spects eral of paign, porat cipatic	X the lo informed into on of t	Succe wer co mation this in	ost stra gathe nitiation	ering a ve will re Cou	nd cor deper incil or	nsultat nd on t r simila	ion) the act arly	tive
government (Local Governments on Cape York, Queensland Government, Federal Government) and regional tourism bodies (Tourism Queensland, Tourism Australia) to identify funding opportunities and formally apply. When applying for funding, provide conceptual plans and all work done to date to demonstrate the projects maturity and high likelihood of successful completion. 8. Facilitate the development of the interactive website: Working with established partners to facilitate the design and implementation of the website. Incorporate the information obtained in Stage 6. After the website is developed ensure a commitment to ongoing update and management. Also investigate possibility to recover expenditure through online advertising. Key Performance Indicators Number of people individually engaged with; Feedback from recipients of targeting 'guerrilla' marketing;	Pros Seve cam incor parti	spects eral of paign, porat cipatic	X the lo informed into on of t	Succe wer co mation this in	ost stra gathe nitiation	ering a ve will re Cou	nd cor deper incil or	nsultat nd on 1	ion) the act arly	tive
government (Local Governments on Cape York, Queensland Government, Federal Government) and regional tourism bodies (Tourism Queensland, Tourism Australia) to identify funding opportunities and formally apply. When applying for funding, provide conceptual plans and all work done to date to demonstrate the projects maturity and high likelihood of successful completion. 8. Facilitate the development of the interactive website: Working with established partners to facilitate the design and implementation of the website. Incorporate the information obtained in Stage 6. After the website is developed ensure a commitment to ongoing update and management. Also investigate possibility to recover expenditure through online advertising. Key Performance Indicators Number of people individually engaged with; Feedback from recipients of targeting 'guerrilla' marketing; Amount of cooperative funding secured from stakeholders;	Pros Seve cam incor parti appr	epects eral of paign, poraticipation	s for sthe lo informed into on of the facility	Succe wer co mation this in the Co itator/	ost stra gathe nitiation ok Shi s. The	ering a ve will re Cou e succ	nd cor deper incil or essful	nsultat nd on t r simila develo	ion) the act arly opmen	tive
government (Local Governments on Cape York, Queensland Government, Federal Government) and regional tourism bodies (Tourism Queensland, Tourism Australia) to identify funding opportunities and formally apply. When applying for funding, provide conceptual plans and all work done to date to demonstrate the projects maturity and high likelihood of successful completion. 8. Facilitate the development of the interactive website: Working with established partners to facilitate the design and implementation of the website. Incorporate the information obtained in Stage 6. After the website is developed ensure a commitment to ongoing update and management. Also investigate possibility to recover expenditure through online advertising. Key Performance Indicators Number of people individually engaged with; Feedback from recipients of targeting 'guerrilla' marketing; Amount of cooperative funding secured from stakeholders; Successful development of the interactive website;	Pros Seve cam incor parti appr the i	epectural of paign, poraticipatic opriation options and the company of the compan	the lo inforred into on of t	Succe wer co mation this in the Co itator/	ost stra gathe nitiation ok Shi s. The	ering a ve will re Cou e succ	nd cor deper incil or essful	nsultat nd on t r simila	ion) the act arly opmen	tive
government (Local Governments on Cape York, Queensland Government, Federal Government) and regional tourism bodies (Tourism Queensland, Tourism Australia) to identify funding opportunities and formally apply. When applying for funding, provide conceptual plans and all work done to date to demonstrate the projects maturity and high likelihood of successful completion. 8. Facilitate the development of the interactive website: Working with established partners to facilitate the design and implementation of the website. Incorporate the information obtained in Stage 6. After the website is developed ensure a commitment to ongoing update and management. Also investigate possibility to recover expenditure through online advertising. Key Performance Indicators Number of people individually engaged with; Feedback from recipients of targeting 'guerrilla' marketing; Amount of cooperative funding secured from stakeholders; Successful development of the interactive website; Internet traffic on the interactive informative website	Pros Seve cam incor parti appr the i	epectural of paign, poraticipatic opriation options and the company of the compan	the lo inforred into on of t	Succe wer co mation this in the Co itator/	ost stra gathe nitiation ok Shi s. The	ering a ve will re Cou e succ	nd cor deper incil or essful	nsultat nd on t r simila develo	ion) the act arly opmen	tive
government (Local Governments on Cape York, Queensland Government, Federal Government) and regional tourism bodies (Tourism Queensland, Tourism Australia) to identify funding opportunities and formally apply. When applying for funding, provide conceptual plans and all work done to date to demonstrate the projects maturity and high likelihood of successful completion. 8. Facilitate the development of the interactive website: Working with established partners to facilitate the design and implementation of the website. Incorporate the information obtained in Stage 6. After the website is developed ensure a commitment to ongoing update and management. Also investigate possibility to recover expenditure through online advertising. Key Performance Indicators Number of people individually engaged with; Feedback from recipients of targeting 'guerrilla' marketing; Amount of cooperative funding secured from stakeholders; Successful development of the interactive website; Internet traffic on the interactive informative website Tourism visitation data; and	Pros Seve cam incor parti appr the i	epectural of paign, poraticipatic opriation options and the company of the compan	the lo inforred into on of t	Succe wer co mation this in the Co itator/	ost stra gathe nitiation ok Shi s. The	ering a ve will re Cou e succ	nd cor deper incil or essful	nsultat nd on t r simila develo	ion) the act arly opmen	tive
government (Local Governments on Cape York, Queensland Government, Federal Government) and regional tourism bodies (Tourism Queensland, Tourism Australia) to identify funding opportunities and formally apply. When applying for funding, provide conceptual plans and all work done to date to demonstrate the projects maturity and high likelihood of successful completion. 8. Facilitate the development of the interactive website: Working with established partners to facilitate the design and implementation of the website. Incorporate the information obtained in Stage 6. After the website is developed ensure a commitment to ongoing update and management. Also investigate possibility to recover expenditure through online advertising. Key Performance Indicators Number of people individually engaged with; Feedback from recipients of targeting 'guerrilla' marketing; Amount of cooperative funding secured from stakeholders; Successful development of the interactive website; Internet traffic on the interactive informative website	Pros Seve cam incor parti appr the i	epectural of paign, poraticipatic opriation options and the company of the compan	the lo inforred into on of t	Succe wer co mation this in the Co itator/	ost stra gathe nitiation ok Shi s. The	ering a ve will re Cou e succ	nd cor deper incil or essful	nsultat nd on t r simila develo	ion) the act arly opmen	tive



3.5.6 Proactive Council Investment Attraction

Project Description	Resources Requi	ired			St	akeh	olders	and	Partn	ers	
This initiative includes the Cook	The financial outla	y for t			•		Shire				
Shire Council actively pursuing	is relatively small,				•		Gove				
business development and investment in the Shire from both	Shire Council staff invest considerable		•) •		ral Go ified p			orci a	nd
private sector and State and Federal	collating information						sm ind				
Government. Individual actions	documents and en			9				,	. ор. ос		
include:	stakeholders.										
The development of a Council											
business investment information											
guide; • Preparation of a Cook Shire											
development prospectus (for											
priority projects) for quick use by											
private and public sectors; and											
Active and regular engagement											
with potential private investors.	nantad Draiget	Ido	hifio	d Cha	llong						
Benefits from Successfully Implementation The Cook region stands to benefit from					llenge merci		ident	ified o	nnorti	nities	will
undertaken due to this initiative. Busin		be th	ne mo	st diffi	cult as	spect (of this	initiati	ive. F	indina	VVIII
development leads to an injective of m					ntial i						S
region, generation of employment opp		with	many	setba	cks. I	Not all	oppor	tunitie	es can	be	
product expansion / diversification for					ucces						
industry. Furthermore, pursuing this in communicate that Cook Shire is 'open					esoure lopme						-
Actual impacts will be dependent on the					centa						
attracted. The development of an Inve					its tha)
Prospectus may be used as a quick ref	erence document				inves				•		
if a government funding avenue should	d arise at short										
notice. Action Plan						Time	eline				
Action Plan		Yr	Yr	Yr	Yr	Yr	Yr	Yr	Yr	Yr	Yr
		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
1. Content research and collation	for Business										
Investment Guide: Work with vario											
Council departments to obtain required											
the development of the Business Investigation (including planning policies for key site		X									
rates information, utilities and associat											
information, available real estate and I											
information).											
2. Preparation of Business Invest											
Presentation of research and collated i simple, well presented brochure for wi											
distribution. There is also potential to											
key sites in the Shire, which local indus		X									
suitable for development. Information	should be										
provided regarding these sites in terms	s of preferred land										
uses and possible procurement costs. 3. Implementation and service of	Rusiness										
Investment Guide: Distribute the B											
Investment Guide online and througho											
community. Identify and contact pote	ntial private										
investors and provide them with the B											
Investment Guide. Provide ongoing se											
with interested parties. Where possibl planning incentives to facilitate / simpl			2.5								
development. For example Council ma			X								
holidays or waiver planning fees on pri											
proposed uses are considered of signif											
to the Shire. Council may freely provid											
collated from its own resources to assi of Planning Applications. Examples of i											
of Planning Applications. Examples of a other Councils around Australia should											
consider what best fits with Cook Shire											
4. Industry consultation regardin	g business										
opportunities and projects for Inv	estment	X									
Prospectus: Consult with industry an											
stakeholders regarding a list of busines	ss, project and				<u> </u>	<u> </u>	<u> </u>				



infrastructure opportunities for investment by private and government stakeholders (e.g. Foreshore development). Collate and filter the list of projects for further analysis.										
5. Preparation of the Investment Prospectus: Detail the key projects established in Stage 4 in a prospectus style report, which can be used for quick reference with private investors and governments.		X								
6. Active implementation of Investment Prospectus with Private industry stakeholders: Identify and engage with potential private investors that may be interested in pursuing various business opportunities. Discuss the potential of the identified business and project opportunities and look to provide planning incentives for desired developments.		X								
7. Presentation of Prospectus to State and Federal Governments: Formally present the Investment Prospectus to State and Federal Government representatives (appropriate opportunities would be during election campaigns or special visits by ministers to the region). Work with government stakeholders on an ongoing basis to establish relationships and funding commitments. Use the Investment Prospectus as a quick-reference document where funding opportunities arise at short-notice (e.g. issues arising in the press, government visits).		X								
8. Ongoing stakeholder engagement: Ongoing engagement with the public and private sectors to build relationships and facilitate private development and public funding projects.	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X
Completion of the Business Investment Guide; Completion of the Investment Prospectus; Number of private stakeholders engaged; Value of private investment secured; and Value of public investment secured.	The the prosection projection privates appropriate that the projection projection privates appropriate that the projection private that the private th	preparation prects in ally to ect factoriate and invely less from roach agertake	ration ment for such by the illitator d gove bw, ho pursu a large	of the Prospectess, Cook Promer of the Prome	Busin ctus has the Shire e convertions of this soportumer of	nave re ey can Counc versior estmer should nities. poten	elativel be de il (or d rate nt to th not d The l tial inv	ly high velope other r in attra ne Shir issuad key he vestors	ed nomina acting re will e the ere is to	ited be



3.5.7 Coen and Peninsula Development Road Signage Strategy

Coen and Pennisula Develo	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,		90.		-9,						
Project Description	Resources Requ								Partn		
This initiative involves improving the quality and frequency of directional and informative road signage on the Peninsula Development Road, with a focus on the Coen area. Road signage is generally considered to be inadequate on the Peninsula Development Road. There is minimal directional and informative signage for small communities and attractions leading off the road. Stakeholders in Coen note that the lack of signage leading up to the town means that many tourists stop at roadhouses or on the roadside for the night not far before the township, meaning that Coen misses out on overnight visitors.	The actual financia purchasing the sig relatively small, ho be considerable op (mainly internal re Shire) associated v Department of Tra Road's (DTMR) ap Cook Shire Council undertake as much internally as possib financial outlay for	nage voluments ource with the naport oplication of the later of the policity o	vill be , there hity co so in C e and I on pre d try t e worl minimi	e will ost ook Main ocess. to k ise the	•	stake Cook Depa Main Quee Feder	holder Shire rtmen Roads	comm t of Tr Gove	cil (key nunity; ranspo ernmer ent.	rt and	
Benefits from Successfully Implen				d Cha							
Improving directional and informative in the Peninsula Development Road will less improvements in community and tourist Installing signage leading up to Coen with measurable economic benefits, as it with tourists to stay the night in Coen, captiourism expenditure. Action Plan	ead to general st amenity. will provide more ill encourage	overo for ro man relati and	comin badsic ner. I ionshi utilise	g DTM le sign it is im	IR's re age in portar DTMF nterna	striction a cos t to fo during al reso an npletin	ons and the contract of the co	d appl ctive a strong applic in terr		n proce ely ing	
ACTION Plan		Yr 1	Yr 2	Yr 3	Yr 4	Yr 5	Yr 6	Yr 7	Yr 8	Yr 9	Yr 10
signage along the Peninsula Devel Systematically considering sites along the Peninsula Development Road that wou new directional signage. Careful considering the surrounding focus on the lead up to the town). Beside achieved by including a community process, if the project budget permits.	the length of the old benefit from deration should grareas (with st results would consultation	X									
2. Determine key areas in need of signage along the Peninsula Devel Systematically considering sites along the Peninsula Development Road that wou new informative signage for tourist attractions to should consider sites that are most released to should consider sites that are most released to site stay tourist markets and take intraction existing research (including visitor surve groups may be formed for relevant areand submit their signage priorities. Be be achieved by including a community process for the final options, if the propermits. Note that signage priorities will change example the development of 4WD tour make some additional signage desirable.	Iopment Road: the length of the ald benefit from ractions. Signage evant to Cook to consideration veys). Community eas to research est results would consultation ject budget e over time. For ring trails may le.	x									
3. Plan the development of the sig desired signage locations and content. staging plan for the funding and impler signage over a period of 5 years. Set a for the project.	Prepare a mentation of an internal budget	x									
4. Begin negotiations with the DM DTMR to discuss the project. Find out application requirements for each sign initial DTMR concerns. Form an ongoir relationship.	the relevant location and ng working	X									
5. Prepare applications for signage staging plan: Prepare applications for location as set out by the staging plan, DTMR's requirements from Stage 4.	r each sign	X	X								



6. Explore potential funding support avenues: Hold discussions with the State and Federal Governments about potential project funding support.		X								
7. Implement signage as per applications are approved: Construct signage as they are approved by DTMR. Aim to maintain the timeline of the staging plan.		X	X	X	X	X				
Key Performance Indicators	Pros	spects	s for S	Succe	SS					
 Successful identification of suitable sites; Completion of planning, including staging and budgeting; Successful negotiation with DTMR; Number of approved signs; Funding secured from State and Federal Governments; and Increased overnight visitation to Coen. 	DTM	IR's ap	plicati	ion pro	ocesse	es and	essfull [,] contro e prosp	l proje	ect cos	



3.5.8 Ongoing Preparation of the Cooktown Visitor Survey

Dynigst Description	Doggurgos Dogu	irod			Ch	akab	aldare	and	Doube	OKO	
Project Description There has recently been two tourist	Resources Requ		ithor				olders			er5	
There has recently been two tourist	Cook Shire Council prepare and admir			itor	•		Shire			Con	ores
visitor surveys undertaken in				itoi	•		town (er or t	COMM	erce
Cooktown (2004 and 2007). The	survey themselves			i+b			urism;		orcit.		
information obtained from these surveys is extremely important for	previous visitor sur private industry to			VVILII	•		s Cool entially		cısıty		
				+ of		(pote	llually).			
planning organisations and industry	survey. From a re										
operators and acts as an aid in decision making. This project	view, partnering w be beneficial, but v										
involves the ongoing preparation	possible.	WIII TIO	L aiwa	ys be							
and administration of the Cooktown	possible.										
visitor survey. The survey could											
also be extended to other regions in											
Cook Shire, to obtain a better											
understanding on tourist visitation											
to the greater region.											
Benefits from Successfully Implen	mented Project	Ide	ntifie	d Chal	lenge	20					
The regular preparation of a region-wie							ely luc	kv in t	he na	et to h	21/0
survey will allow for a better understar							r willin				ave
region's tourism industry, which will ul							2004 a				tha
improved information for decision mak							resour				uic
and industry operators. The survey wi							ement				nici
significantly improve the quality of tou							the vis				
available (coupled with capturing touri							times				υ ,
statistics), which will provide the ability							ey (to e				ater
longitudinal statistical analysis to ident							to ach				
changing dynamics in the region's tour							unde				
dianging dynamics in the regions to an							explore				
							ion of				
							en for			on of	
							3). If				
							nsider			able,	
							ourism				oe a
					_			•		,	
		final	option	า.							
Action Plan		final	option	٦.		Time	eline				
Action Plan		Yr	Yr	Yr	Yr	Yr	eline Yr	Yr	Yr	Yr	Yr
					Yr 4			Yr 7	Yr 8	Yr 9	Yr 10
Negotiate with private stakehol		Yr	Yr	Yr		Yr	Yr				
Negotiate with private stakehol the Cooktown Visitor Survey has been	undertaken by a	Yr	Yr	Yr		Yr	Yr				
Negotiate with private stakehol the Cooktown Visitor Survey has been private industry operator. The Cook Si	undertaken by a hire Council	Yr	Yr	Yr		Yr	Yr				
Negotiate with private stakehol the Cooktown Visitor Survey has been private industry operator. The Cook S should look to negotiate with the priva	undertaken by a hire Council ite sector for the	Yr	Yr	Yr		Yr	Yr				
1. Negotiate with private stakehol the Cooktown Visitor Survey has been private industry operator. The Cook S should look to negotiate with the private continual preparation of the Visitor Sur	undertaken by a hire Council Ite sector for the rvey however take	Yr 1	Yr	Yr		Yr	Yr				
1. Negotiate with private stakehol the Cooktown Visitor Survey has been private industry operator. The Cook S should look to negotiate with the private continual preparation of the Visitor Sur a coordinating role to ensure a consist	undertaken by a hire Council ite sector for the rvey however take ent methodology	Yr	Yr	Yr		Yr	Yr				
1. Negotiate with private stakehol the Cooktown Visitor Survey has been private industry operator. The Cook S should look to negotiate with the priva continual preparation of the Visitor Sur a coordinating role to ensure a consist and process is preserved. The Cook S	undertaken by a hire Council ite sector for the rvey however take ent methodology hire Council may	Yr 1	Yr	Yr		Yr	Yr				
1. Negotiate with private stakehol the Cooktown Visitor Survey has been private industry operator. The Cook S should look to negotiate with the priva continual preparation of the Visitor Sur a coordinating role to ensure a consist and process is preserved. The Cook S also consider negotiating with James C	undertaken by a hire Council ite sector for the rvey however take ent methodology hire Council may Cook University, as	Yr 1	Yr	Yr		Yr	Yr				
1. Negotiate with private stakehol the Cooktown Visitor Survey has been private industry operator. The Cook Si should look to negotiate with the private continual preparation of the Visitor Sur a coordinating role to ensure a consist and process is preserved. The Cook Si also consider negotiating with James Ci the Cooktown visitor survey would con	undertaken by a hire Council te sector for the rvey however take ent methodology hire Council may Cook University, as stitute a relevant	Yr 1	Yr	Yr		Yr	Yr				
1. Negotiate with private stakehol the Cooktown Visitor Survey has been private industry operator. The Cook S should look to negotiate with the priva continual preparation of the Visitor Sur a coordinating role to ensure a consist and process is preserved. The Cook S also consider negotiating with James C the Cooktown visitor survey would con honours project for business and touris	undertaken by a hire Council te sector for the rvey however take ent methodology hire Council may Cook University, as stitute a relevant sm students.	Yr 1	Yr	Yr		Yr	Yr				
1. Negotiate with private stakehol the Cooktown Visitor Survey has been private industry operator. The Cook Sishould look to negotiate with the private continual preparation of the Visitor Surial a coordinating role to ensure a consistent and process is preserved. The Cook Sialso consider negotiating with James Cithe Cooktown visitor survey would conhonours project for business and touristications.	undertaken by a hire Council te sector for the rvey however take ent methodology hire Council may Cook University, as stitute a relevant sm students.	Yr 1	Yr	Yr		Yr	Yr				
1. Negotiate with private stakehol the Cooktown Visitor Survey has been private industry operator. The Cook Sishould look to negotiate with the private continual preparation of the Visitor Surial accoordinating role to ensure a consiste and process is preserved. The Cook Sialso consider negotiating with James Cithe Cooktown visitor survey would conhonours project for business and tourists. Consider expanding scope to reshire: Cook Shire is quite diverse in teasure.	undertaken by a hire Council te sector for the rvey however take ent methodology hire Council may Cook University, as sistitute a relevant sm students. egional Cook erms of tourist	Yr 1	Yr	Yr		Yr	Yr				
1. Negotiate with private stakehol the Cooktown Visitor Survey has been private industry operator. The Cook S should look to negotiate with the private continual preparation of the Visitor Sur a coordinating role to ensure a consist and process is preserved. The Cook S also consider negotiating with James C the Cooktown visitor survey would conhonours project for business and tourist 2. Consider expanding scope to respirate took Shire: Cook Shire is quite diverse in the product offering and visitor characterists.	undertaken by a hire Council te sector for the rvey however take ent methodology hire Council may Cook University, as a stitute a relevant sm students. Egional Cook erms of tourist stics. Considering	Yr 1	Yr	Yr		Yr	Yr				
1. Negotiate with private stakehol the Cooktown Visitor Survey has been private industry operator. The Cook S should look to negotiate with the private continual preparation of the Visitor Sur a coordinating role to ensure a consist and process is preserved. The Cook S also consider negotiating with James C the Cooktown visitor survey would conhonours project for business and tourist 2. Consider expanding scope to respond to the Cook Shire: Cook Shire is quite diverse in the product offering and visitor characterist this, it would be useful to expand the statement of the Cooktown visitor characterist is the cooktown visitor survey would conhonours project for business and tourist cook Shire: Cook Shire is quite diverse in the product offering and visitor characterist this, it would be useful to expand the statement of the Cooktown visitor survey would be useful to expand the statement of the Cooktown visitor survey would be useful to expand the statement of the Cooktown visitor survey would conhonours project for business and tourist or the Cooktown visitor survey would conhonours project for business and tourist or the Cooktown visitor survey would conhonours project for business and tourist or the Cooktown visitor survey would conhonours project for business and tourist or the Cooktown visitor survey would conhonours project for business and tourist or the Cooktown visitor survey would conhonours project for business and tourist or the Cooktown visitor survey would conhonours project for business and tourist or the Cooktown visitor survey would conhonours project for business and tourist or the Cooktown visitor survey would conhonours project for business and tourist or the Cooktown visitor survey would conhonours project for business and tourist or the Cooktown visitor survey would conhonours project for business and tourist or the Cooktown visitor survey would conhonours project for business and tourist or the Cooktown visitor survey would conhonours project for business and tourist or the Cooktown visitor	undertaken by a hire Council the sector for the rvey however take ent methodology hire Council may Cook University, as a stitute a relevant sm students. Egional Cook erms of tourist stics. Considering scope of the	Yr 1	Yr	Yr		Yr	Yr				
1. Negotiate with private stakehol the Cooktown Visitor Survey has been private industry operator. The Cook S should look to negotiate with the priva continual preparation of the Visitor Sur a coordinating role to ensure a consist and process is preserved. The Cook S also consider negotiating with James O the Cooktown visitor survey would con honours project for business and touris 2. Consider expanding scope to re Shire: Cook Shire is quite diverse in te product offering and visitor characteris this, it would be useful to expand the s Cooktown Visitor survey to encompass	undertaken by a hire Council ste sector for the rvey however take ent methodology hire Council may Cook University, as sistitute a relevant sm students. Egional Cook erms of tourist stics. Considering scope of the the entire Shire.	Yr 1	Yr	Yr		Yr	Yr				
1. Negotiate with private stakehol the Cooktown Visitor Survey has been private industry operator. The Cook S should look to negotiate with the priva continual preparation of the Visitor Sur a coordinating role to ensure a consist and process is preserved. The Cook S also consider negotiating with James O the Cooktown visitor survey would con honours project for business and touris 2. Consider expanding scope to re Shire: Cook Shire is quite diverse in te product offering and visitor characteris this, it would be useful to expand the s Cooktown Visitor survey to encompass Surveying can be undertaken in remot	undertaken by a hire Council ste sector for the rvey however take ent methodology hire Council may Cook University, as isstitute a relevant sm students. Egional Cook erms of tourist stics. Considering scope of the the entire Shire. e centres, such as	Yr 1	Yr	Yr		Yr	Yr				
1. Negotiate with private stakehol the Cooktown Visitor Survey has been private industry operator. The Cook S should look to negotiate with the priva continual preparation of the Visitor Sur a coordinating role to ensure a consist and process is preserved. The Cook S also consider negotiating with James O the Cooktown visitor survey would con honours project for business and touris 2. Consider expanding scope to re Shire: Cook Shire is quite diverse in te product offering and visitor characteris this, it would be useful to expand the s Cooktown Visitor survey to encompass Surveying can be undertaken in remot Coen, Portland Roads, Laura and Lakel	undertaken by a hire Council te sector for the rvey however take ent methodology hire Council may Cook University, as isstitute a relevant sm students. egional Cook erms of tourist stics. Considering scope of the the entire Shire. e centres, such as land. In practical	Yr 1	Yr	Yr		Yr	Yr				
1. Negotiate with private stakehol the Cooktown Visitor Survey has been private industry operator. The Cook S should look to negotiate with the priva continual preparation of the Visitor Sur a coordinating role to ensure a consist and process is preserved. The Cook S also consider negotiating with James C the Cooktown visitor survey would con honours project for business and touris 2. Consider expanding scope to re Shire: Cook Shire is quite diverse in te product offering and visitor characteris this, it would be useful to expand the s Cooktown Visitor survey to encompass Surveying can be undertaken in remot Coen, Portland Roads, Laura and Lake terms however, survey location will be	undertaken by a hire Council te sector for the rvey however take ent methodology hire Council may Cook University, as a stitute a relevant sm students. Egional Cook erms of tourist stics. Considering scope of the the entire Shire. The ce centres, such as land. In practical dependent on	Yr 1	Yr	Yr		Yr	Yr				
1. Negotiate with private stakehol the Cooktown Visitor Survey has been private industry operator. The Cook S should look to negotiate with the priva continual preparation of the Visitor Sur a coordinating role to ensure a consist and process is preserved. The Cook S also consider negotiating with James C the Cooktown visitor survey would con honours project for business and tourie 2. Consider expanding scope to re Shire: Cook Shire is quite diverse in re product offering and visitor characteris this, it would be useful to expand the s Cooktown Visitor survey to encompass Surveying can be undertaken in remot Coen, Portland Roads, Laura and Lakel terms however, survey location will be finding appropriate businesses that are	undertaken by a hire Council te sector for the rvey however take ent methodology hire Council may Cook University, as a stitute a relevant sm students. Egional Cook erms of tourist stics. Considering scope of the the entire Shire. The ce centres, such as land. In practical dependent on	Yr 1	Yr	Yr		Yr	Yr				
1. Negotiate with private stakehol the Cooktown Visitor Survey has been private industry operator. The Cook Sishould look to negotiate with the private continual preparation of the Visitor Survey a coordinating role to ensure a consist and process is preserved. The Cook Sialso consider negotiating with James Of the Cooktown visitor survey would conhonours project for business and tourist 2. Consider expanding scope to reside Shire: Cook Shire is quite diverse in the product offering and visitor characteristhis, it would be useful to expand the stocktown Visitor survey to encompass Surveying can be undertaken in remotication. Portland Roads, Laura and Lakel terms however, survey location will be finding appropriate businesses that are volunteer their services.	undertaken by a hire Council te sector for the rvey however take ent methodology hire Council may cook University, as a stitute a relevant sm students. Egional Cook erms of tourist stics. Considering scope of the the entire Shire. The ce centres, such as land. In practical dependent on the willing to	Yr 1	Yr	Yr		Yr	Yr				
1. Negotiate with private stakehol the Cooktown Visitor Survey has been private industry operator. The Cook Sishould look to negotiate with the private continual preparation of the Visitor Survate a coordinating role to ensure a consist and process is preserved. The Cook Sialso consider negotiating with James Cithe Cooktown visitor survey would conhonours project for business and tourist. 2. Consider expanding scope to rescribe this, it would be useful to expand the stocktown Visitor survey to encompass Surveying can be undertaken in remotication. Portland Roads, Laura and Lake terms however, survey location will be finding appropriate businesses that are volunteer their services. 3. Review past Visitor Surveys:	undertaken by a hire Council te sector for the rvey however take ent methodology hire Council may cook University, as a stitute a relevant sm students. Egional Cook erms of tourist stics. Considering scope of the the entire Shire. The centres, such as land. In practical dependent on the willing to comprehensively	Yr 1	Yr	Yr		Yr	Yr				
1. Negotiate with private stakehol the Cooktown Visitor Survey has been private industry operator. The Cook Sishould look to negotiate with the private continual preparation of the Visitor Survate a coordinating role to ensure a consist and process is preserved. The Cook Sialso consider negotiating with James Of the Cooktown visitor survey would conhonours project for business and tourist 2. Consider expanding scope to reside the Cook Shire is quite diverse in the product offering and visitor characteristhis, it would be useful to expand the Stocktown Visitor survey to encompass Surveying can be undertaken in remotication. Portland Roads, Laura and Lake terms however, survey location will be finding appropriate businesses that are volunteer their services. 3. Review past Visitor Surveys: Coreview the 2004 and 2007 Cooktown Visitor Surveys Surveys Coreview the 2004 and 2007 Cooktown Visitor Surveys Surveys Coreview the 2004 and 2007 Cooktown Visitor Surveys Surveys Coreview the 2004 and 2007 Cooktown Visitor Surveys S	undertaken by a hire Council te sector for the rvey however take ent methodology hire Council may cook University, as a stitute a relevant sm students. Egional Cook erms of tourist stics. Considering scope of the the entire Shire. The centres, such as land. In practical dependent on the willing to comprehensively disitor Surveys	Yr 1	Yr	Yr		Yr	Yr				
1. Negotiate with private stakehol the Cooktown Visitor Survey has been private industry operator. The Cook Sishould look to negotiate with the private continual preparation of the Visitor Survate a coordinating role to ensure a consist and process is preserved. The Cook Sialso consider negotiating with James Cithe Cooktown visitor survey would conhonours project for business and tourist. 2. Consider expanding scope to rescriptions of the Cook Shire is quite diverse in the product offering and visitor characteristhis, it would be useful to expand the Sicoktown Visitor survey to encompass Surveying can be undertaken in remoticen, Portland Roads, Laura and Lake terms however, survey location will be finding appropriate businesses that are volunteer their services. 3. Review past Visitor Surveys: Coreview the 2004 and 2007 Cooktown Vistor designing the new survey instructions.	undertaken by a hire Council te sector for the rvey however take ent methodology hire Council may cook University, as a stitute a relevant sm students. egional Cook erms of touristics. Considering scope of the stites. Considering scope of the stites the entire Shire. The e centres, such as land. In practical dependent on e willing to comprehensively //isitor Surveys ument.	Yr 1	Yr	Yr		Yr	Yr				
1. Negotiate with private stakehol the Cooktown Visitor Survey has been private industry operator. The Cook Sishould look to negotiate with the private continual preparation of the Visitor Survate a coordinating role to ensure a consist and process is preserved. The Cook Sialso consider negotiating with James Of the Cooktown visitor survey would conhonours project for business and tourise. 2. Consider expanding scope to reside the Cooktown Visitor is quite diverse in the product offering and visitor characterist this, it would be useful to expand the scooktown Visitor survey to encompass Surveying can be undertaken in remoticen, Portland Roads, Laura and Lake terms however, survey location will be finding appropriate businesses that are volunteer their services. 3. Review past Visitor Surveys: Coreview the 2004 and 2007 Cooktown Visitor designing the new survey instruction.	undertaken by a hire Council te sector for the rvey however take ent methodology hire Council may cook University, as a stitute a relevant sm students. egional Cook erms of tourist stics. Considering scope of the stites the entire Shire. The e centres, such as land. In practical dependent on e willing to comprehensively //isitor Surveys ument.	Yr 1	Yr	Yr		Yr	Yr				
1. Negotiate with private stakehol the Cooktown Visitor Survey has been private industry operator. The Cook Should look to negotiate with the private continual preparation of the Visitor Survate a coordinating role to ensure a consist and process is preserved. The Cook Shalso consider negotiating with James Cothe Cooktown visitor survey would conhonours project for business and tourise. 2. Consider expanding scope to reschire: Cook Shire is quite diverse in the product offering and visitor characteristhis, it would be useful to expand the scooktown Visitor survey to encompass Surveying can be undertaken in remoth Coen, Portland Roads, Laura and Lake terms however, survey location will be finding appropriate businesses that are volunteer their services. 3. Review past Visitor Surveys: Coreview the 2004 and 2007 Cooktown Visitor designing the new survey instruction on recommendations from Appendix A	undertaken by a hire Council te sector for the rvey however take ent methodology hire Council may Cook University, as a stitute a relevant sm students. egional Cook erms of tourist stics. Considering scope of the stites the entire Shire. The e centres, such as land. In practical dependent on e willing to comprehensively visitor Surveys ument. ew survey based. The most	X X	Yr	Yr		Yr	Yr				
1. Negotiate with private stakehol the Cooktown Visitor Survey has been private industry operator. The Cook Should look to negotiate with the private continual preparation of the Visitor Survate a coordinating role to ensure a consist and process is preserved. The Cook Shalso consider negotiating with James Cothe Cooktown visitor survey would conhonours project for business and tourist. 2. Consider expanding scope to respond to the cook Shire is quite diverse in the product offering and visitor characteristhis, it would be useful to expand the Scooktown Visitor survey to encompass Surveying can be undertaken in remoth Coen, Portland Roads, Laura and Lake terms however, survey location will be finding appropriate businesses that are volunteer their services. 3. Review past Visitor Surveys: Coreview the 2004 and 2007 Cooktown Visitore designing the new survey instruction on recommendations from Appendix A important consideration is ensuring the	undertaken by a hire Council te sector for the rvey however take ent methodology hire Council may Cook University, as stitute a relevant sm students. In the sector for the rvey however take ent methodology hire Council may Cook University, as stitute a relevant sm students. In the elevant sector of the sect	Yr 1	Yr	Yr		Yr	Yr				
1. Negotiate with private stakehol the Cooktown Visitor Survey has been private industry operator. The Cook Should look to negotiate with the private continual preparation of the Visitor Survate a coordinating role to ensure a consist and process is preserved. The Cook Shalso consider negotiating with James Cothe Cooktown visitor survey would conhonours project for business and tourise. 2. Consider expanding scope to respondent offering and visitor characteristhis, it would be useful to expand the Should be useful to ex	undertaken by a hire Council te sector for the rvey however take ent methodology hire Council may Cook University, as stitute a relevant sm students. In the sector for the rvey however take ent methodology hire Council may Cook University, as stitute a relevant sm students. In the elevant sector of the sect	X X	Yr	Yr		Yr	Yr				



6. Undertake data analysis and reporting: Prepare relevant statistical analysis and draw conclusions and recommendations. It is recommended that MS Excel be utilised to store and analyse data, as it is a ubiquitous application with relatively high levels of ability to use across stakeholders and compatibility with add-ins and other more advanced statistical packages. Ensure data is collated, stored and presented in a manner which allows for longitudinal analysis with past and future survey results. Analysis should be relatively simple, so that readers of the data can intuitively understand the results and how they relate to the raw data.	X									
7. Publically distribute the survey: Ensure that the results of the survey are made publically available as a simple snap-shot with minimal qualitative interpretation. The information collected by the survey will be valuable for all current and prospective tourist industry operators in Cook Shire. As the data will be a product of the Cook business community, the final excel spreadsheet should also be provided for businesses to undertake more detailed analysis of the raw data as suits their purposes. 8. Plan future frequency of the survey: Plan for the Visitor Survey to be undertaken on a bi-annual basis.	x		X		X		X		X	
Key Performance Indicators	Dros	enecte	for S	Succe	cc					
 Successful negotiations with private industry operators; Successful negotiations with James Cook University; Successful preparation and administration of the visitor survey; Continual administration on a bi-annual basis; and Widespread distribution of survey results (number of recipients). 	The surve Cour under focus N P P N a a to see the course of the course o	prospe ey is re- ertakin s on: legotia repara legotia s a po burism tilise a urvey see re- pply fo	ect of elative mains g the ating wation a ation watential a stude a surve require port se	succestly high minim survey with print additional print in the survey districted to dection ding from the succession of	ssfully h. The ising to ising	comple challed the cost savirustration the surion metre tourind burism	enge is assorting me y part of the rvey to or a because the control or	for Coo ociated asures eners to surve o be co usines imilar to sitation	ok Shii with shoul o aid t y; omplet s or to the n statis	d he ted



3.5.9 Cruise Ship Industry

The cruise ship industry is focused on Cooktown, as there are very limited port and mooring facilities elsewhere in the Shire. Cooktown is visited by a number of 'micro' and large cruise ships throughout the cruise shipping season. Depending on tides and weather, 'micro' cruise ships are able to dock at Cooktown Port and large scale cruise ships moor offshore and tender passengers ashore with a smaller craft. Most stakeholders in Cooktown recognise that the visiting ships provide economic benefits and a boost for the region's tourism industry. However, consultation with local, regional and State stakeholders has revealed a number of major issues for the further development of the cruise ship industry in Cooktown. The identified issues include:

- Lack of deep water port facilities, making it impossible for large cruise ships to directly access the shore;
- 'Micro' cruise ships can only access Cooktown's Port on high tide;
- Poor weather conditions (high winds and rough seas) often makes it impossible for large cruise ships to tender passengers ashore from an offshore mooring;
- Cooktown's tourism industry does not have the capacity to cater for large, irregular influxes of visitors from large scale cruise ships (i.e. Transport, tours, etc);
- Cruise ship scheduling is irregular and often subject to short notice changes; and
- Results from the product audit suggest that Cooktown's tourism product offering is generally not well suited for typical cruise ship passengers. An exception may be found in the expedition cruising (micro cruising) market.

The issues mentioned above weigh against the further development of cruise shipping tourism in Cooktown. Major and almost certainly unachievable investments are required to address a number of the issues. The weather and tidal conditions make it very difficult for cruise ships to visit Cooktown (particularly for larger scale cruise ships that require offshore tendering). Industry stakeholders note that rough sea conditions result in approximately 50% of large cruise ships visiting Cooktown being unable to tender passengers ashore. The cost of developing deep water port facilities in Cooktown to improve access for cruise ships would be major and unrealistic to expect for a small and remote community.

Based on the information gathered from local stakeholders, regional / State tourism organisations and cruise ship industry, the further development of the cruise ship industry in Cooktown should not be a key priority for Cook Shire. Although economic benefits can be achieved from encouraging cruise shipping, the irregularity of scheduling and accessibility means that visits will always be somewhat erratic. They should not be relied on as a sustainable demand base for the local tourism industry and instead considered only as 'cream on the top'.

Despite not being a key priority for Cook Shire, there are still a number of minor initiatives that can be undertaken to help maximise the economic benefits achieved under the current level of tourist visitation from cruise ships. These initiatives include:

- · Develop strategies for businesses to coordinate opening during scheduled visits;
- Facilitate collaboration between local tourism operators to increase the capacity of the local tourism industry; and
- Continue to build relationships with cruise ship companies, with a focus on micro cruise shipping.



4. Conclusion

Cook Shire is a unique proposition for tourism development. The Shire contains an abundance of natural and cultural assets that provides a vast basis for development of tourism products and experiences. 'The Cape' also holds a certain allure and considerable reputation for genuine remote wilderness adventures throughout Australia and indeed much of the world. It is easy to project a great potential for tourism development in Cook Shire.

At the same time, Cook Shire is remote with a small population and resource base to service a very large and complex region. The region simply lacks the resources to successfully pursue many initiatives. As a region Cook must pursue a limited suite of priorities where the costs are low and/or the region has a clear advantage that differentiates it. Traditional tourist destinations such as the Cairns region will always have far greater resources, and be able to outcompete on any of the traditional features such as cost, convenience, market exposure, services, range of activities, etc.

It is hard to think of any similar sized communities in Australia with such a strong recognition by the market as Cook Shire. The challenge for Cook Shire's tourism industry is to consolidate and continue to enhance this reputation, to convert the recognition and interest into actual visits to the Shire, and to leverage the industry into the International market.

The Cook Shire TSAP represents the 'business end' of the Cook Shire Tourism Strategy project. The TSAP is a product of significant research and analysis, including two consultation phases, the Background Assessment report and the Tourism Product Audit.

4.1 Strategic Initiatives

Eight core strategic initiatives have been detailed, which are to shape Cook Shire's tourism industry over the next ten years. The eight strategic initiatives (as set out in Section 4) are:

- Long Term Marketing Strategy -Low Cost / Targeted Focus;
- Grey Nomads and Camping Strategy (Cooktown focus);
- Expansion of Camping Related Tourism Facilities in the Iron Range Area;
- Emerging Market Development (China Focus);
- Cape York Touring Trails Development;
- · Proactive Council Investment Attraction;
- · Coen and Peninsula Development Road Signage Strategy; and
- Ongoing Preparation of the Cooktown Visitor Survey.

Pursuing these initiatives requires that the region's stakeholders, most notably Cook Shire Council and the Cooktown Chamber of Commerce & Tourism, invest significant time into understanding the background to these initiatives and adapting them to work within their current day-to-day operations. Relatively detailed guidance on how these initiatives would be pursued is provided, however this cannot replace further planning within the region to carry them through to implementation.

It is unlikely that all strategies will be able to be progressed concurrently. Guidance to how strategic initiatives fit with market priorities, timelines and leading stakeholders is summarised in Table 4.1.



Table 4.1: Summary of Key Actions in the TSAP

	Project / Strategy							
	Long Term Marketing Strategy	Grey Nomads and Camping Strategy	Expansion of Camping Related Tourism Facilities in the Iron Range Area	Emerging Market Development	Cape York Touring Trails Development	Proactive Council Investment Attraction	Coen and Peninsula Development Road Signage Strategy	Ongoing Preparation of the Cooktown Visitor Survey
Core Market Price					-			
4WD / Adventure	 Focus on direct contact with interest groups through direct and online engagement Aim to provide specific information and support to convert interest in an 'up-the-Cape' adventure into more visits 	Focussed on Grey Nomads but part of 'base camp' strategy to have more travellers heading up the Cape to stop into Cooktown for supplies, information (Nature's Powerhouse) and 'rest days'	Focus on making is easier for greater volumes of 4WD / Adventure visitors to visit and spend time in the Iron Range area	4WD / Adventure experience will continue to serve as the key image of tourism in Cook Shire to International and domestic markets	Focus is on making and adventure in Cape York easier to plan for and understand — without removing the adventurous nature of the trails themselves	Minimal focus on investment to support this market at the time of writing	Assist in wayfinding support for this market and enabling more spirit of the moment decisions to visit other attractions / facilities	Inclusive
Peripheral Mark	et Priority							
Grey Nomads	Direct contact with Grey Nomad groups included but not as high a focus as 4WD / Adventure and Domestic Leisure markets Marketing focus for Grey Nomads more about repairing destination reputation and converting visitors into a higher level of expenditure and activity	Core focus on this market group Main aim is to make is easier for Grey Nomads to visit Cooktown and spend at least a short amount of time in the Town Base camp strategy for increased visits of Grey Nomads into Cooktown to be converted to more sales of supplies and better opportunity to	Will be significant user of these facilities however focus is on 4WD / Adventure market (although the two markets cannot always be separated)	Minimal interaction	Will be of value to assisting with dispersal of Grey Nomads however core market focus is on 4WD / Adventure	Development of additional and expanded camping and holiday park facilities is one of the focuses of this action	Focuses on wayfinding support for this market and better conversion of traffic to visitation of other attractions / facilities	• Inclusive



	Project / Strategy							
	Long Term Marketing Strategy	Grey Nomads and Camping Strategy	Expansion of Camping Related Tourism Facilities in the Iron Range Area	Emerging Market Development	Cape York Touring Trails Development	Proactive Council Investment Attraction	Coen and Peninsula Development Road Signage Strategy	Ongoing Preparation of the Cooktown Visitor Survey
		promote other products and activities						
Domestic Leisure	Core focus of this strategy Promotion focus is on similar adventurous / up-the-Cape experiences and images — Product focus is on more bite-sized experiences, tours and traditional accommodation options	Domestic Leisure and Grey Nomads markets blend at the margin and cannot always be separated Some level of demand from Domestic Leisure market expected	Some, but minimal, level of demand from Domestic Leisure market expected	Minimal interaction	Minimal interaction	Development of additional products and facilities for this market is one of the focuses of this strategy	Domestic Leisure tourists are not a significant focus of the Road Signage Strategy	Inclusive
Developing/ Inv	estigating Market Pr							
International Leisure	Not a current focus Techniques and experience developed through this strategy can be applied to international markets in the future	Minimal interaction	Minimal interaction	Core focus is on gaining understanding of these emerging markets and pioneering approaches to attract them to Cook Shire	Minimal interaction	Minimal interaction	Minimal interaction	Inclusive
	ental Market Priorit		T	·	1	T	T	1
Cruise ship	Minimal interaction	No interaction	No interaction	Minimal interaction	No interaction	 Minimal interaction anticipated 	No interaction	Non-inclusive
International backpackers	Not a focus but easily picked up through this style of marketing	Backpackers are likely to be a significant secondary market utilising	More adventurous backpackers may utilise these facilities but are	Backpackers from emerging markets should be considered as a potential	Minimal interaction	Minimal interaction	Minimal interaction	Inclusive





	Project / Strategy							
	Long Term Marketing Strategy	Grey Nomads and Camping Strategy	Expansion of Camping Related Tourism Facilities in the Iron Range Area	Emerging Market Development	Cape York Touring Trails Development	Proactive Council Investment Attraction	Coen and Peninsula Development Road Signage Strategy	Ongoing Preparation of the Cooktown Visitor Survey
		these facilities	not considered a significant focus	segment				
Leading Stakeho	Leading Stakeholders							
	Cooktown Chamber of Commerce & Tourism	Cook Shire Council	Cook Shire Council; Portland Roads Community Working Group	Cook Shire Council	Cook Shire Council Local expertise coordination through Natures Powerhouse VIC	Cook Shire Council	Cook Shire Council	Cook Shire Council Cooktown Chamber of Commerce & Tourism
Priority Level*	Priority Level*							
	Short-term, Ongoing	Medium-term	Long-term	Medium-term, ongoing	Short-term, ongoing	Short-term, ongoing	Medium-term	Short-term, ongoing



Source: AEC group
*Short-term (1-3yrs), Medium-term (1-5yrs), Long-term (1-10yrs), Ongoing (review and update on an ongoing basis after delivery of the core strategy)



4.2 Interaction with Other Regions

The tourism experience in Cook Shire is towards the periphery of what Tourism Queensland and Tourism Tropical North Queensland is focussed on developing and promoting. This strategy promotes a more self-reliant focus on Cook Shire engaging with its core domestic 4WD / Adventure/ Leisure markets through the growing ability to directly connect with target markets.

This strategy views the Cape York region as the closest community of interest in terms of tourism strategy and cooperative approaches on initiatives such as Cape York Touring Trails Development. Within Cook Shire, there are also several distinctive communities such as Laura and Coen which have shared tourism objectives and also some of their own initiatives.

Engagement with Tourism Queensland and Tourism Australia to understand their evolving understanding of emerging markets is also required. Cook Shire is not currently in a position to make a significant entry into developing international tourism however this situation has the potential to change rapidly, as markets, travel means and communications technologies evolve.

4.3 Summary

The strategic initiatives outlined in this TSAP focus on clear, achievable directions of clear relevance to Cook Shire's markets and appropriate to the region's resources to deliver the strategies.

Several strategic initiatives are more aspirational and less certain (e.g. Emerging Market Development), on the basis of pursuing limited higher risk and longer term directions which have the potential to bring major benefits to the region's tourism future. Ingredients within Cook Shire for success with emerging markets are apparent, but the pathways to success are not yet so clear.

The success of this TSAP will be determined primarily by the actions of the region's stakeholders over the next 10 years. By focusing on these initiatives as a region, Cook Shire has the potential to significantly improve outcomes for its tourism related businesses.





Appendix A: Capturing Tourism Visitation

Background

As a part of the initial project brief, AEC*group* has developed a methodology for capturing visitation and expenditure statistics in Cook Shire. The analysis included a benchmark review (summarised below), which included consultation with Tourism Queensland (TQ) regarding their methods for estimating visitor numbers and expenditure in regions of Queensland.

The methodology proposed for Cook Shire includes a survey approach and requires a number of industry partners to collect bi-annual visitation statistics to their business. The successful implementation of the proposed methodology will provide Cook Shire with a total estimate for tourism visitation and an average expenditure per day / night for various tourism related expenditure categories. Collecting these statistics over time will allow planning bodies and industry members to monitor the overall health of Cook Shire's tourism industry and make better informed decisions.

Benchmark Review

In terms of existing literature, there is limited information regarding the collection of regional tourism visitation statistics. Regional tourism statistics tend to be survey based, however, specific methodologies used to develop visitation numbers are not generally reported in detail.

AECgroup undertook consultation with TQ, to gain a better understanding on how tourism visitation statistics are developed for their Destination Visitor Surveys. Very simply, TQ surveys visitors from each tourism region (Australian Bureau of Statistics standardised tourism regions) to determine what regions they visit, for how long and how much they spend. These proportions are then applied to nationally collected visitation data, which is based on international overseas arrivals and departures data and Australia's population – to determine international and domestic tourism visitation numbers respectively.

Although this methodology is not perfect, it represents one of the only ways of capturing visitor statistics at a regional level. AEC*group* has developed a methodology that uses similar principles in order to capture tourist visitation and expenditure in Cook Shire. The proposed methodology is outlined in the Section below.

Proposed Methodology

The proposed methodology for collecting tourism visitation data in Cook Shire, follows a similar approach to that of TQ Destination Visitor Surveys, whereby a survey will be utilised as a foundation. However, the methodology differs where the direct application of TQ's approach for collecting data for Cook Shire would be overly expensive and/or require major project planning and design. An overview of the methodology for estimating tourist visitation and expenditure to Cook Shire is considered in Table A.2.

Table A.2: Summary Tourism Visitation Statistics Methodology

Stage	Action / Task	Detail
1	Find supportive businesses / operators that can collect visitor data (i.e. raw visitor numbers)	 Data should ideally be characterised bi-annually (with the ability to be monthly segregated) to reflect differences between seasons and be compatible with month long survey periods The businesses / operators should ideally be distributed across the Shire to at least three different townships (i.e. Cooktown, Coen, Portland Roads or Laura)
2	Design survey	 Identify the proportion of tourists visiting the businesses / operators consolidated in Stage 1 Identify average daily spend on various items
3	Find supportive businesses that are willing to administer the survey	 Survey should ideally be administered on a bi-annual basis to reflect differences between seasons The survey sample size will depend largely on project budget constraints – a sample range of 200 – 400 would initially be sufficient The survey should ideally be distributed across the Shire to at least



Stage	Action / Task	Detail
		three different townships (i.e. Cooktown, Coen, Portland Roads or Laura) • Survey should include accommodation businesses so as to capture the business tourism market
4	Compile data on an annual basis	 Data will include: Visitation statistics for several key businesses / operators in the low and high seasons Proportion of tourists visiting the key businesses / operators in the low and high seasons Expenditures per day / night in the low and high seasons
5	Data analysis	 Extrapolate visitor data at the key businesses / operators based on the proportion of tourists visiting these attractions (for low and high seasons) Take an average of the extrapolated visitation for all of the data points (for low and high seasons) Add low and high total average visitations to determine total annual visitation Determine average daily expenditure by category based on data obtained from the survey (can do so for low and high seasons and aggregate)

Source: AECaroup

The successful administration of this approach in Cook Shire will require the Cook Shire Council to work with a number of strategically located visitor data collection points across the Shire, which will most suitably be tourism associated businesses and operators who volunteer to collect data. Participating businesses / operators will be required to collect tourism visitation numbers data on a bi-annual basis (for the low and high season) so seasonal analysis can be later undertaken on the data. The businesses and operators should ideally be evenly distributed across Cook Shire to allow for best results.

A brief visitor survey (no longer than one-page) will need to be designed which includes questions to cross-reference the proportion of tourists visiting the participating businesses / operators. Note that the longer / more complicated the survey, the lower the response rate and less accurate the data that will be collected. To minimise costs, the survey can be distributed by businesses, ideally across Cook Shire. The survey should be conducted on a bi-annual basis to coincide with the bi-annual visitation numbers data collected by the participating business / operators.

Once the visitation data from the participating businesses / operators and the survey has been completed, all data will need to be electronically entered into a database for manipulation and analysis. To estimate total visitation to Cook Shire, visitor data collected by the participating businesses / operators and the proportions of tourists visiting these businesses and operators will need to be compared and extrapolated. To extrapolate each data point, the following formula is to be applied:

Total Visitation = % of tourists that visited the business
$$X = \frac{1}{\text{# of tourists that visited the business}}$$

The formula will need to be applied to each tourism visitation data point provided by the participating businesses / operators for the low and high seasons. Low and high season visitations can then be estimated by taking the mean of the relevant visitation estimations. An example of the extrapolation analysis is outlined in Table A.3Error! Reference source not found.



Table A.3: Visitation Data Analysis Example

Business / Attraction	Location	Proportion of Tourists Visiting	Bi-Annual Visitor Data	Extrapolated Visitor Numbers				
High Season (May to Octobe	High Season (May to October)							
Cooktown Example Business	Cooktown	50%	20,000	40,000				
Laura Example Business	Laura	10%	4,500	45,000				
Coen Example Business	Coen	8%	4,000	50,000				
Portland Roads Example	Portland Roads	5%	2,250	45,000				
Business								
Average High Season Visitation				45,000				
Low Season (November to A	pril)							
Cooktown Example Business	Cooktown	60%	14,000	23,333				
Laura Example Business	Laura	8%	2,000	25,000				
Coen Example Business	Coen	4%	1,200	30,000				
Portland Roads Example	Portland Roads	2%	600	30,000				
Business				·				
	27,083							
	72,083							

Source: AEC group

Example Survey

The survey is one of the core components of the proposed methodology for measuring tourism visitation and expenditure statistics. The survey has two key objectives:

- **Objective 1:** To determine the proportion of tourists visiting the visitor data collection points (participating businesses / operators); and
- **Objective 2:** To determine the average expenditure per person per day / night on various tourism related expenditure categories.

AECgroup has developed an example survey that incorporates the required information to undertaken this tourism visitation and expenditure estimation methodology. The Survey is noted below in Survey A.1.

Survey A.1: Example Tourist Visitor and Expenditure Survey

Q1. What is your primary reason for travelling to Cook	1 ☐ Friends / Relatives → Go to Q3
Shire?	2 □ Business / Work → Go to Q3
(tick one option only)	3 □ Holiday / Recreation → Go to Q2
(**************************************	4 □ Other → Please Specify
Q2. If you answered Holiday / Recreation in Q1, what is the	1 □ Visiting Cooktown
reason for travelling to Cook Shire?	2 □ Undertaking a tour → Please Specify
(tick all that apply)	☐ Travelling to Cape York
	4 □ History
	Nature / Environment
	6 □ Indigenous culture
	7 🗆 Rural Australian Culture
	8 ☐ Other → Please Specify
Q3. What is your primary mode of travel?	1 □ Car (2WD)
(tick one option only)	₂ □ Car (4WD)
	3 ☐ Car (w/ Caravan)
	4 D Plane (Scheduled passenger service)
	₅ □ Plane (Chartered flight)
	6 □ Boat (personally owned)
	₇ Doat (Cruise or charter)
	8 ☐ Other → Please Specify
Q4. On average, how much have you / plan to spend on the	1 Accommodation:
following items per day / night:	2 Groceries:
(Provide \$ per day / night for all)	3 Cafe / Restaurants:
	4 Travelling Supplies:
	5 Fuel:
	6 Tourism Activities:
OF Which of the following destinations have you been to as	7 Other:
Q5. Which of the following destinations have you been to or	□ Cooktown Example Business / Attraction
plan on going to? (<i>tick all that apply</i>)	Cooktown Example Business / Attraction
(מכה מוו מומג מףףוץ)	□ Laura Example Business / Attraction □ Coen Example Business / Attraction
O6. Where are you from?	5 □ Etc. 1 □ Queensland
Qui vancie are you nom:	





(tick one option only)	2 ☐ Australian State: → Please Specify
	3 ☐ Overseas Country: → Please Specify
Q7. What is your gender?	1 □ Male
(tick one option only)	₂ □ Female
Q8. What is your age range?	1 □ Under 18 year
(tick one option only)	2 □ 18 – 25 years
	₃ □ 26 – 40 years
	4 □ 41 – 60 years
	5 □ 61 – 80 years
	5 □ 80 years+
Q9. Who are you travelling with?	1 □ Alone
(tick one option only)	₂ □ Partner only
	3 ☐ Family → Please Specify #
	4 ☐ Friends → Please Specify #
	5 □ Other → Please Specify #

Source: AECgroup

Summary

In summary, the proposed methodology does have limitations in terms of data accuracy; however, it broadly aligns with other regional tourism visitation estimation methodologies, which are similarly problematic. Given the nature of Cook Shire (remote areas and many different access points) it is logistically very difficult to implement any other approaches for the collection of tourism visitation data with reasonable cost effectiveness. This approach is dependent on businesses volunteering time and collecting quality statistics and surveys.

Strong relationships need to be developed with tourist operators across the Shire in order to undertake this methodology in a cost effective manner. AECgroup's proposed methodology provides a relatively simple approach, which if administered effectively, will provide a relatively good estimation of tourist visitation and expenditure in the Shire and will be a great tool in monitoring the health of the industry on a longitudinal basis.





PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK



Brisbane	Level 5, 131 Leichhardt Street	PO Box 942	T	+61 7 3831 0577
	Spring Hill QLD 4000	Spring Hill QLD 4004	F	+61 7 3831 3899
Melbourne	Level 13, 200 Queen Street	GPO Box 4500	T	+61 3 8648 6586
	Melbourne VIC 3000	Melbourne VIC 3001	F	+61 3 8648 6480
Sydney	Level 3, 507 Kent Street	PO Box Q569, QVB	T	+61 2 9283 8400
	Sydney NSW 2000	Sydney NSW 1230	F	+61 2 9264 9254
Townsville	233 Flinders Street East	PO Box 5804MC	T	+61 7 4771 5550
	Townsville QLD 4810	Townsville QLD 4810	F	+61 7 4771 5152
Perth	Level 18, Central Park 152 - 158 St Georges Terrace Perth WA 6000		T F	+61 8 9288 4456 +61 8 9288 4457